Evaluation of the Badu Advisory Report:

Review of the NT's implementation of the National Water Initiative in relation to water planning

12 February 2024

Professor Alex Gardner

Contents

Instruction	ns	1
Overvie	w of the work requested	1
Method	lology	1
Expert Qu	alifications	2
Executive	summary	2
1. Policy a	nd Legal Context	5
1.1.	The NWI objectives and actions - the NWI commitments	6
1.2.	NT's NWI Implementation Commitments	9
1.3.	The water planning provisions of the Water Act and Water Regulations	. 10
2. Advice	on the conclusions of the Badu Review in relation to questions (1) - (3)	. 15
2.1. Bad	du Review Conclusions	. 15
2.2. Diff	ferences with the Badu Review	. 16
	the Water Act and Water Regulations provisions around water planning and allocations ent with the NWI commitments?	
	. Legal security of access entitlements and plan provisions for environmental & other c benefit outcomes	. 17
2.3.2	. Water Access Entitlements, Seasonal Allocations and Water resource accounting	. 19
2.3.3	. Indigenous access to water resources	.21
2.3.4	. Community partnerships and consultation	.23
	he general approach adopted for the development (preparation) and structure of Water on Plans (WAPs) consistent with the NWI?	
2.4.1.	. When to make a WAP and over what area?	. 25
2.4.2	. A WAP in three documents	.26
2.4.3	Water Act prescription of the legal effect of the WAP content	. 28
Planning	he approach to water planning and allocation adopted in the NT "Water Allocation g Framework" (6 May 2020), including the contingent rules, annual allocation process ar surface Water Take – Wet Seasons Flows Policy", consistent with the NWI?	
2.5.1.	. Water Act s.22B and the concept of environmentally sustainable level of extraction	.30
2.5.2	Contingent Allocation Rules, especially where there is no WAP	.33
3. Summa	ry of the Part 2 analysis of the Badu Review	.35
	the Water Act and Water Regulations provisions around water planning and allocations ent with the NWI commitments?	
	he general approach adopted for the development (preparation) and structure of Water on Plans (WAPs) consistent with the NWI?	
Framew	ne approach to water planning and allocation adopted in the NT "Water Allocation Plann york" (6 May 2020), including the contingent rules, annual allocation process and "Draft Water Take – Wet Seasons Flows Policy", consistent with the NWI?	
Annexure		39

Instructions

I have been asked to provide expert advice to the Environmental Defenders Office (**EDO**) by way of an evaluation of the accuracy of the Badu Advisory Review of the Northern Territory's implementation of the National Water Initiative (**NWI**) in relation to water planning in the Northern Territory (**NT**)(the **Badu Review**). In summary, the Badu Review "concluded that the NT's water planning processes are consistent with the provisions of the NWI and subsequent guideline documents". ²

I acknowledge the brief provided to me by letter dated 17 November 2023.

Overview of the work requested

I have reviewed the laws and documents listed in Annexure A of the Brief, including the "Badu Review", and these documents and three others are now listed in Annexure A to this advice.

I am asked to give my opinion on three questions about the accuracy of the conclusions made in the Badu Review:

- 1) whether the provisions of the *Water Act 1992* (Water Act) and *Water Regulations 1992* (NT) (Water Regulations) around water planning and allocation are consistent with the NWI;
- 2) whether the general approach adopted for the development (preparation) and structure of Water Allocation Plans (WAPs) is consistent with the NWI; and
- 3) whether the approach to water planning and allocation adopted in the NT "Water Allocation Planning Framework" (6 May 2020), including the contingent rules, annual allocation process and "Draft Surface Water Take Wet Seasons Flows Policy" are consistent with the NWI.

I am also asked to present further comments on the scope and methodology of the Review and provide any further observations or opinions relevant to the three questions above.

Methodology

I address the tasks above in the following three steps or Parts:

- describe the NT's policy and legal context for this advice by summarising the relevant NWI objectives and actions (NWI commitments), acknowledging the history of the NT Government's NWI commitments from its NWI Implementation Plan, and outlining the water planning provisions of the Water Act and Water Regulations;
- 2) present my opinions on the conclusions of the Badu Review in relation to questions (1) (3) above; and
- 3) provide a summary of my conclusions.

I comment on the scope and methodology of the Badu Review and distinguish my approach in the introduction to Part 2.

I make observations throughout this advice drawing on Productivity Commission *National Water Reform 2020 Inquiry Report* (**2020 PC Inquiry Report**), including the Productivity Commission's Assessment of the NWI implementation progress (2017-2020) and the Water Reform Recommendations.

¹ Badu Advisory, Northern Territory Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, *Review of the NT's implementation of the National Water Initiative in relation to water planning*, 13 July 2023. (Badu Review).

² Above n 1, Badu Review, executive summary, p.2.

In presenting my advice, I assume that the reader has a knowledge of or access to the documents listed in Annexure A.

Expert Qualifications

I have legal academic and practice expertise and experience that demonstrate my qualifications to prepare this report.

- I have 35 years of experience as a legal academic in the field of natural resources and environmental law, having held a teaching and research appointment at the University of Western Australia Law School since 1988, and adjunct teaching positions at the Australian National University College of Law (2001-2017) and the University of Queensland School of Law (2011-2014) for the purpose of teaching postgraduate classes in Water Resources Law.
- I have published numerous articles on water resources law, including on environmental water provisions, and am the lead author of *Water Resources Law*, LexisNexis Au, 2nd edition 2018. A key theme of the *Water Resources Law* book is how Australian water resources legislation implements the NWI.
- I have held a legal practice certificate in Western Australia since 1994, providing natural resources and environmental legal advice in the public interest, to private parties and to agencies of the Western Australian and Commonwealth Governments.

Executive summary

Part 3 of this advice summarises my responses in Part 2 to the three questions about the Badu Review. This is a succinct summary introducing those responses and noting why I disagree with the conclusion of the Badu Review. My disagreement is partly founded on a different methodology, explained in the introduction to Part 2. In particular, the Badu Review excludes "[c]ommenting on the merits or otherwise of principles, strategies, rules etc. contained within, or the outcomes associated with, the specific provisions contained within WAPs, policies or guidelines".³

In contrast, this advice explicitly includes analyses of key strategies and policies and some WAP provisions in relevant assessments of NWI compliance. Further, although the NWI is not a legal instrument, and the Badu Review explicitly avoids presenting a legal analysis of the NT's NWI implementation, this advice gives a greater focus on evaluating the legal basis for the NT's implementation of the NWI than is presented in the Badu Review. The analysis is offered as advice on important legal reforms to implement the three key elements of the NWI to improve water allocation planning under statutory reforms proposed by the NT Government.

The Water Act and Water Regulations provisions around water planning and allocations are not consistent with the NWI commitments.

- Environmental water allocations under WAPs do not have the same legal security as water access entitlements.
- The NT has not enacted legislation to create secure, NWI-consistent water access entitlements
 for consumptive use. Even if fully NWI consistent entitlements may not be necessary in
 relatively undeveloped water systems, analysis of the legislation shows that the NT
 entitlement regime is not fully NWI compliant, even where a WAP and water trading are

³ Above n1, Badu Review, 1.3 Out of Scope, p.7.

purportedly in place. However, there is evidence that licence conditions are used under the Water Act to support the practice of "announced allocations" by which the Controller may apply an "annual reduction percentage" in a manner consistent with NWI para [29]. However, the NT water licence is not NWI consistent because it is not a secure perpetual entitlement separated from land tenure and unbundled from regulatory approval of water use, and there is inadequate legislative support of the practices of water metering and trading.

- The NT has made progress with a legislative requirement to establish Aboriginal water reserves for the licensing of Indigenous water access for economic benefit. However, the regulations have not been made to authorise the licensing of water from an Aboriginal water reserve, perhaps because there are not confirmed arrangements for establishing a water reserve in water resource systems that are fully allocated.
- Although the PC emphasised the importance of effective community engagement and extolled the guidelines for the attributes of effective engagement practice, the Badu Review acknowledges the challenges in Aboriginal engagement with water allocation planning. Recent experience with general consultation practice and the role of Water Advisory Committees is inconsistent with the NWI Water Planning Guidelines.
- All Australian jurisdictions' legislation, except the Water Act (NT), include legal guidance on planning process.

The general approach for development (preparation) and structure of Water Allocation Plans is not consistent with the NWI

The NT may, consistently with the NWI, determine when a plan is prepared, the area it covers, the detail, duration and time of review, and the resources devoted to its preparation "based on an assessment of the level of development of water systems, projected future consumptive demand and the risks of not having a detailed plan". While new water allocation plans are being made, there are three important attributes of the water allocation planning system that illustrate inconsistency with the NWI principles and commitments; mainly relating to when to make a water allocation plan, with what structure, and to what legal effect.

- Contrary to the comment of the Badu Review, the NWI Policy Guidelines and the PC do not set a standard of "fit-for-purpose" to describe the general level of expectations for the preparation of water allocation plans.
- The NWI Policy Guidelines say that "all plans should specify the sustainable water extraction regime for the system" and suggests a "water system classification" that recognizes conservation water systems, low development water systems, and high development water systems.
- It is consistent with the NWI for the NT to apply non-statutory policies and procedures to guide water licensing decisions in those areas not subject to a WAP. There is a further question whether the content of those policies and procedures are consistent with the NWI.
- The recent practice of dividing water allocation plan material into three different components is inconsistent with NWI principles guiding the preparation of water plans, particularly in that key decision-making is left to the licensing assessment procedures and insufficient provision is made for monitoring and reporting on plan performance.

_

⁴ Intergovernmental Agreement on a National Water Initiative 2004, paragraph [38].

- The legal effect of water allocation plan content is unclear because of the inconsistent provisions of the Water Act ss.22B(4) and 90(1), which leave open an interpretation that the Controller is bound to conduct water resource management "in accordance with any water allocation plan" but only required to "take into account" a water allocation plan in making decisions about water extraction licensing. The recent NT Supreme Court decision in the Singleton Station Case⁵ held that s.22B(4) does not confine the broad licensing discretion under s.90 by requiring a licence to conform to the terms of a WAP. More careful and certain drafting of the legislation and WAPs could bring regulatory benefits and better NWI compliance.
- The NWI goals of water allocation plans providing for 'secure ecological outcomes' and
 'resource security outcomes' means that a water allocation plan should be legally binding on
 the Controller making water licensing decisions and on licensees exercising rights under their
 water extraction licences.

The approach to water planning and allocation adopted in the NT "Water Allocation Planning Framework" (6 May 2020), including the contingent rules, annual allocation process and "Draft Surface Water Take – Wet Seasons Flows Policy", are inconsistent with the NWI

The guidance on the NT making allocations of water to non-consumptive and consumptive uses comes from relevant provisions of the Water Act, especially s.22B, and four key policies. While elements of this guidance seek to apply NWI concepts, certain key concepts are inconsistent with the NWI.

The Water Act s.22B(5) mandate to allocate water to defined beneficial uses within the *estimated* sustainable yield (ESY) is inconsistent with the NWI objective of achieving an *environmentally* sustainable level of extraction (ESLT) because the former includes both consumptive and non-consumptive uses, such as the environmental water allocation.

- The concepts adapted to the Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan, for example, differ from
 the statutory concepts in adopting a groundwater allocation system that describes a huge
 volume of environmental water allocation as "storage", a term not employed in the NWI, and
 makes only a minimal nominal environmental water allocation.
- The non-statutory Background Report to the WAP explains that the storage water for environmental maintenance is available for consumptive use allocation because [it] is necessary to use aquifer storage to balance infrequent recharge with a continuous demand for water", especially in the arid zone. The infrequent recharge is converted to an average annualised recharge calculated from the infrequent actual recharge events [so that it] could sustain the proposed levels of annual extraction by resort to groundwater storage.
- This conceptual framework is inconsistent with the central principles of the NWI for consumptive pool management of share entitlements subject to prior environmental allocation.
- More research is needed to ascertain how share entitlements in consumptive pool
 management of groundwater have been implemented around Australia. It is beyond my
 expertise to evaluate whether the propositions outlined in the Background Report present a
 sustainable water resource management framework.

-

⁵ The case is discussed at Part 2.4.3 below.

As noted above, it is consistent with the NWI for the NT to apply non-statutory policies and procedures to guide licensing decisions in areas not subject to a WAP, such as applies under the "contingent water allocation" rules of the Water Allocation Planning Framework and the Wet Season Flows Policy. It is beyond my expertise to comment on whether the environmental thresholds adopted in these policies conform to an ESLT. However, the high reliance on these legally unenforceable rules, including in the context of a declared water allocation plan, is a source of uncertainty that may compromise the objective of implementing a statutory water allocation planning system. Greater use of statutory water allocation plans could be an appropriate means of limiting that non-statutory uncertainty.

1. Policy and Legal Context

The NT signed the Intergovernmental Agreement on a National Water Initiative 2004 (**NWI**) and agreed to the Northern Territory Implementation Plan in June 2006 (**NT NWI Implementation Plan**). Both these documents are extensive. I have been asked to address those parts that pertain to the NT's NWI commitments relevant to water allocation planning, including attention to the following elements of the NWI:

- a. Paragraphs [23]-[24], setting out the objectives for full implementation of the NWI and the "key elements" against which are identified the agreed outcomes and commitments;
- b. Paragraphs [25]-[57], setting out the agreed outcomes and commitments with respect to "water access entitlements and planning framework" (in particular, clauses 36-40 with respect to water plans and clauses 25(ix), 52-54 with respect to Indigenous access);
- c. Paragraphs [93]-[97], which deal with community partnership and adjustment issues;
- d. Schedule A, which sets out the timeline for implementation of key actions; and
- e. Schedule E, which contains guidelines for water plans and planning processes.

By para [3] of the NT NWI Implementation Plan, the NT stated that it "intends to complete full implementation of the NWI, as initially detailed, by 2010" but, where necessary, the NT "may agree to modify this implementation plan on the basis of further information or analysis where necessary to achieve the objectives of the NWI". I am instructed that the NT NWI Implementation Plan has not been formally modified. However, it is arguable that the original terms of the NWI commitments are in the process of being modified by the formal reviews of the implementation of the NWI.

The Productivity Commission (**PC**) reviewed the implementation of the NWI in 2020.⁶ The NT Government and the Badu Review have included in the scope of the NWI commitments some of the recommendations that the PC has articulated through its 2020 PC Inquiry Report, which includes the NWI Implementation Assessment 2017-2020 and the Water Reform report.⁷ The 2020 PC Inquiry Report is supplemented by a set of "Supporting Papers", some of which are referred to in the Badu Review. Although the Australian Government has agreed to renew the NWI in partnership with the States and Territories, this has not yet happened.

⁶ A Gardner et al, Water Resources Law, LexisNexis Au, 2nd edition 2018, [3.11]

⁷ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *National water reform 2020*, Final Report released on 2 September 2021, available at https://www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/completed/water-reform-2020#report

I summarise below the key NWI objectives and actions for water allocation planning, the history of the NT's commitments to implement the NWI and the relevant attributes of NT law and policy. References to the 2020 PC Inquiry Report and Supporting Papers are addressed in Part 2 below analysing the Badu Review's conclusions.

Before proceeding with this discussion, it is helpful to explain the meanings of the word "allocation", as this word is used in the context of the planning instrument and the access entitlement. In the former context, it refers to the function of a water plan to allocate or share water between broad community level categories or purposes. In the latter context, the NWI uses the word "allocation" to describe the volume of water credited, under the terms of the water allocation plan, to the water account of the individual access entitlement holder as the share of the consumptive pool for that entitlement holder for a water season. 9

1.1. The NWI objectives and actions - the NWI commitments

1.1.1. Objectives of the NWI for Water Planning

The NWI paragraph [23] states the objectives, which are as follows (with presently irrelevant exclusions).

- 23. Full implementation of this Agreement will result in a nationally-compatible, market, regulatory and planning based system of managing surface and groundwater resources for rural and urban use that optimises economic, social and environmental outcomes by achieving the following:
 - i) clear and nationally-compatible characteristics for secure water access entitlements;
 - ii) transparent, statutory-based water planning;
 - iii) statutory provision for *environmental and other public benefit outcomes*, and improved environmental management practices;
 - iv) complete the return of all currently overallocated or overused systems to environmentally-sustainable levels of extraction;
 - vi) clarity around the assignment of risk arising from future changes in the availability of water for the *consumptive pool*;
 - vii) water accounting which is able to meet the information needs of different water systems in respect to planning, monitoring, trading, environmental management and on-farm management;
 - x) recognition of the connectivity between surface and groundwater resources and connected systems managed as a single resource.

The concept of *environmentally-sustainable level of extraction* is defined as "the level of water extraction from a particular system which, if exceeded would compromise key environmental assets,

⁸ A Gardner et al, *Water Resources Law*, LexisNexis Au, 2nd edition 2018, [14.49]. Other forms of water plan may address water quality, use, flood control or drainage.

⁹ A water season is typically a year, from 1 July to 30 June following. However, some water allocation plans in Australia may provide for an allocation over a period of more than one year.

or ecosystem functions and the productive base of the resource". ¹⁰ It is fundamental to all water resource allocation, ¹¹ and can be seen as a conceptual limit on allocation to the consumptive pool.

The NWI paragraph [24] lists the 'key elements' of the NWI program of actions for achieving these objectives, including -

- (i) water access entitlements and planning framework,
- (v) water resource accounting,
- (viii) community partnerships and adjustment issues.

The following summarises the NWI paragraphs in relation to each of these three key elements.

1.1.2. Three key elements of the NWI for Water Planning

NWI paragraphs [25]-[57] set out the agreed outcomes and commitments with respect to **water access entitlements and water planning**. These paragraphs express important propositions about the <u>legal character of access entitlements and plan provisions for environmental and other public benefit <u>outcomes</u>, as explained in *Water Resources Law* at [14.39], with emphasis in the original.</u>

"25 The Parties agree that, once initiated, their water access entitlements and planning frameworks will:

- (i) enhance the security and commercial certainty of water access entitlements by clearly specifying the statutory nature of those entitlements;
- (ii) provide a statutory basis for environmental and other public benefits in surface and groundwater systems to protect water sources and their dependent ecosystems;

37 Broadly, water planning by states and territories will provide for:

- secure ecological outcomes by describing the environmental and other public benefit outcomes for water systems and defining the appropriate water management arrangements to achieve those outcomes; and
- (ii) resource security outcomes by determining the shares in the *consumptive pool* and the rules to allocate water during the life of the plan.

The cumulative effect of these NWI propositions is that water allocation plans are to establish a secure basis for environmental water allocations and consumptive use water entitlements, and that these plans are to have a binding legal effect on the management of water resources by both executive government and any persons with interests in either form of allocation. This legal certainty is seen as essential for the operation of the market in water entitlements."

<u>NWI paragraphs [28]-[30]</u> express the essential attributes of the <u>NWI water access entitlements</u> and associated rights; namely, that the traditional water licence be replaced by "unbundled" NWI entitlements for access, allocation and use.¹²

- The *access* entitlement is to be separate from land title and to be expressed as a <u>perpetual</u> share of a consumptive pool of a specified water resource determined by a water plan: para [28].
- The *allocation* entitlement is to be a periodic (usually seasonal) allocation of water to the access entitlement made consistently with a water plan: para [29].
- The *use* entitlement is to be a regulatory approval of water use at a particular site for a particular purpose and is separate from the access and allocation entitlements: para [30].

7

¹⁰ Intergovernmental Agreement on a National Water Initiative 2004, p.29, Schedule B(i): Glossary of Terms.

¹¹ For example, see Water Act 2007 (Cth) ss.3 and 23. See also, NWI [25(v)].

¹² A Gardner et al, *Water Resources Law*, LexisNexis Au, 2nd edition 2018, [12.3] and [18.4]-[18.6].

This unbundled regime is important for facilitating the trade of water access rights, with the access and allocation entitlements to be tradable.

It must be acknowledged that the NWI entitlement system is seen as primarily applicable to water access rights for commercial purposes and public water supply. Contemporary water resources legislation usually preserves basic landholder access rights for domestic and stock watering purposes, and similar limited access purposes such as firefighting. In the NWI (para [55] ff), these water access rights are treated as "interception" of surface and ground water resources that should be regulated by statutory rights and accounted for in water allocation planning, but not by the access entitlements system.

The NWI treats <u>Indigenous access to water resources</u> as an aspect of water planning. It provides in:

Paragraph [25] that the water access entitlements and planning frameworks will "(ix) recognise indigenous needs in relation to water access and management", and

Paragraphs [52]-[54] that through planning processes, in accordance with legislation, the Parties will provide for indigenous access to water resources by:

- "inclusion of indigenous representation in water planning wherever possible",
- incorporating in water plans indigenous social, spiritual and customary objectives and strategies for achieving those objectives, and
- allocating water to native title holders and accounting for that water.

It is apparent that the NWI did not explicitly say that water resources legislation should recognise Indigenous water needs through conferral of access entitlements in addition to plan provisions.

NWI paragraphs [80]ff address water resource accounting for the administration of entitlements, which is equally important for the functioning of the water allocation and entitlement trading system, starting with a register of entitlements. Paragraph [80] records the parties' agreement that an accounting system should "ensure that adequate measurement, monitoring and reporting systems are in place ... to support public and investor confidence in the amount of water being traded, extracted for consumptive use, and recovered and managed for *environmental and other public benefit outcomes*".

This function of water resource accounting of entitlements is complemented by the monitoring of the implementation of water plans against water plan objectives: **paragraph [40]**. Water plan monitoring should be "consistent with the nature and intensity of resource use" and be publicly reported. The reporting should assist governments and water users to manage risk, including to the consumptive pool, and inform plan amendments. Under the terms of the NWI, monitoring plan implementation is monitoring the administration of a statutory instrument. In my opinion, the framework for such monitoring should also have a statutory basis.

NWI Paragraphs [93]-[97] express the outcomes and actions for **community partnerships and adjustment issues** affecting entitlements holders and communities that may arise from reductions in water availability from implementing the NWI reforms. While these propositions have a generic relevance in expressing principles of "open and timely consultation with all stakeholders" and the provision of "accurate and timely information to all relevant stakeholders", it is apparent that these NWI propositions are directed at general community and Indigenous engagement, and at the difficulties anticipated in relation to "pathways for returning overdrawn surface and groundwater

systems to environmentally sustainable extraction levels" – para [95]. ¹³ The NWI provisions for water planning express more generally applicable principles of open, transparent, well-informed community consultation in water allocation planning. For example, NWI **paragraph 36** provides:

"Recognising that settling the trade-offs between competing outcomes for water systems will involve judgements informed by best available science, socio-economic analysis and community input, **statutory** water plans will be prepared for surface water and groundwater management units in which entitlements are issued (subject to paragraph 38). Water planning is an important mechanism to assist governments and the community to determine water management and allocation decisions to meet productive, environmental and social objectives." [emphasis added]

Paragraph [38] provides that the State or Territory will determine when a plan is prepared, the area it covers, the detail, duration and time of review, and the resources devoted to its preparation "based on an assessment of the level of development of *water systems*, projected future consumptive demand and the risks of not having a detailed plan." NWI para [39] and Schedule E give guidance on the content and process of a plan, including by Schedule E clause 6 that declares:

"[w]ater planning processes include:

- i) consultation with stakeholders including those within or downstream of the plan area;
- ii) the application of the best available scientific knowledge and, consistent with the level of knowledge and resource use, socio-economic analyses;
- iii) adequate opportunity for consumptive use, environmental, cultural, and other public benefit issues to be identified and considered in an open and transparent way; ..."

In conclusion, it is important to note that the NWI conceived of water planning and water plans as processes and instruments defined by statute. For example, **NWI para [23(ii)]** refers to "statutory based water planning"; **para [23(iii)]** refers to "statutory provision for environmental ... outcomes", and **para [36]** refers to "statutory water plans". Significantly, the definition of "water plan" in **NWI Schedule B(i)** is "statutory plans for surface and / or groundwater systems ... developed in consultation with all relevant stakeholders on the basis of best scientific and socio-economic assessment, to provide secure ecological outcomes and resource security for users".

1.2. NT's NWI Implementation Commitments

The NT accepts the **NWI para [23]** objectives in the NWI Implementation Plan. It states that the NT does not have over-allocated river systems or groundwater resources but that it will provide an annual public audit of the level of allocation in all river and groundwater systems. The NT's NWI Implementation Plan gives numerous responses and commitments to the key elements. I have focused on the NT's commitments in relation to the three key elements identified above in Part 1.1; namely -

- water access entitlements and planning framework paragraphs [25]-[57], especially [28]-[30] regarding the NWI entitlements plus [25] and [52]-[54] regarding Indigenous access;
- water resource accounting paras [40] and [80]; and

¹³ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020)*, 2021, p.193.

¹⁴ See also, A Gardner et al, Water Resources Law, LexisNexis Au, 2nd edition 2018, [15.16].

¹⁵ Northern Territory Government, NWI Implementation Plan 2006, p.15.

• <u>community consultation, community partnerships and adjustment</u> – paragraphs [93]-[97] and, more pertinently, [36], [38], [39] and Schedule E guidelines;

NWI Schedule A is the <u>original timeline for implementation of key actions</u>, which is mostly redundant now except for providing a checklist of what may be incomplete or ongoing actions. The NT NWI Implementation Schedule also contains some commitments about the time for implementation of key actions, which are similarly mostly redundant now. In any case, the NT NWI Implementation Plan 2006 generally assesses the NT to have already fulfilled the NWI commitments or to be on track to fulfill them in the immediately following years; for example, in relation to paragraphs [28]-[30]. As we shall see, there can be misunderstandings of what the NWI requires.

More effective guidance regarding ongoing commitments is now provided by the PC's 2020 Inquiry Report, including its recommendations for contemporary interpretations of the NWI commitments. I also acknowledge the approach of the Badu Review in addressing ongoing commitments to be drawn from the 2010 NWI Policy Guidelines for Water Planning and Management, 2017 Guideline Modules, and the PC's 2020 Inquiry Report, including the Supporting Papers. These additional documents provide a detailed elaboration of the NWI principles that exceeds the scope of this advice. Only selective reference can be made to these additional sources to aid in an evaluation of the NT's fulfilment of the NWI commitments.

1.3. The water planning provisions of the Water Act and Water Regulations

The Water Act and Water Regulations are the most sparsely expressed water resources management legislation in Australia. The relatively small population has placed modest demands on the development and use of widely distributed, often very scarce, water resources. ¹⁸ The past regulatory demands have been less than other Australian jurisdictions. However, as the Territory Water Plan 2023 explains, ¹⁹ the current legislation "does not provide all the necessary mechanisms for best practice water resource management in the current context of climate change, growing competition for water and community expectations around governance and accountability". The NT Government is preparing new legislation to submit to the NT Legislative Assembly by 2026.

Nevertheless, the purpose of this advice is to evaluate the Badu Review of the NT's implementation of the NWI in relation to water planning. The essential features of the current law relating to water planning are outlined here.²⁰

1.3.1. Public control of most water resources

Water in a waterway (broadly defined) or groundwater is Crown vested: s.9. This means that a person must find authority under the Act to take and use water or to interfere with a waterway or groundwater for that purpose.

There are statutory public and private rights to access, take and use water for stock watering and domestic purposes: ss.10-15. A person who wishes to take and use water in volumes that exceed the statutory rights will need to apply for a licence: Part 5, Division 2, and Part 6, Division 4. Similarly, a

¹⁸ Above n1, Badu Advisory Review, at p.1 lists "unique characteristics" for water planning in the NT.

¹⁶ Northern Territory Government, NWI Implementation Plan 2006, pp.17-19.

¹⁷ Above n1, Badu Advisory Review, pp.10-15.

¹⁹ Northern Territory Government, *Territory Water Plan*, 2023, p.34.

²⁰ The *Water Resources Law* book, chapters 15-17, discuss in detail the Australian State and Territory laws relating to the water resources planning system, the content of a water allocation plan and the legal effect of a plan. The barest planning provisions of the Water Act are not discussed there.

person wishing to construct works to take surface or groundwater must apply for a permit to do so. Part 5, Division 1, and Part 6, Division 3. Parts 6A – 6C are generally beyond the scope of this advice, ²¹ though it is important to note that Part 6C, which came into operation on 1 August 2023, ends the exemption of mining and petroleum activities from the Water Act licensing of access to water resources for those industries' activities. ²²

The Minister may appoint a Controller of Water Resources (**Controller**) to exercise key administrative functions under the Act, including to conduct and authorise water resources investigations, and to determine applications for permits to carry out works in relation to surface and ground water, and applications for licences to operate those works for the purposes of taking surface or ground water: s.18. The Controller "must keep one or more registers of licences" granted under the Act, and the registers are to be publicly available on the Agency's website, containing the information prescribed by the Regulations: s.95. The register information must identify the licence holder, the date and duration of the licence, location of the property from which the water is taken, the water source and the annual maximum quantity of water that may be taken under the licence: Water Regulation 17. The Controller has also established a modest (static) form of 'water trade register' pursuant to some water allocation plans (**WAPs**), ²³ but I can find no legislation authorising the water trade register.

1.3.2. Planning process

The Minister controls the planning process, beginning with the power to declare Water Control Districts (**WCD**) and to declare a WAP to apply in respect of all or part of a WCD: ss.22 and 22B. The Minister must specify the period (term) of a WAP, a maximum of ten years, and must ensure that a review "is conducted at intervals no longer than 5 years": s.22A(3)-(4).

I am instructed that there are currently eight declared WCDs; some quite small and others quite large, extending from Darwin and Gove in the north to Alice Springs and the Great Artesian Basin in the south. ²⁴ In respect of those WCDs, no WAP is proposed for two WCDs, three WAPs are being prepared and there are seven declared WAPs, three of which apply to aquifers within one WCD. ²⁵ The Water Act clearly gives the Minister the discretionary powers to decide whether to establish a WCD and to prepare a WAP. The Minister can also decide the process for making a WAP because the Act and Regulations say nothing about plan-making process. There are also no express statutory provisions for amending a plan, though it could be implied that a Minister may make a new WAP to replace an existing WAP, even if its term had not expired. The Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031 ²⁶ and the draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2022-2032, ²⁷ for example, refer to a power to amend the plan. This may be relying on *Interpretation Act 1978* (NT) s.43, which provides that a

²¹ Water Act Parts 6A – 6C deal with "water extraction licence decisions", "development of land for subsequent licences" and "revoked exemption licence decisions", respectively.

Water Legislation Amendment Act 2023 (NT), Gazette Number G14, 06/07/2023, s.12 inserting Part 6C. Water quality regulation of mining and petroleum industry activities are not covered by the pollution provisions of the Water Act if they occur in carrying out a mining or petroleum activity and are confined within a mining or petroleum site: ss 7, 16, 17 and 17A ff.

Northern Territory Government, "Water trade register", showing publication of "approved water trades": https://nt.gov.au/environment/water/licensing/water-extraction-licence/water-trade-register.

²⁴ The Northern Territory Government provides a map of the <u>Declared Water Control Districts</u>.

²⁵ The Northern Territory Government provides a map of the Water Allocation Planning Areas.

²⁶ Northern Territory Government, Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031, section 5.1.

²⁷ Northern Territory Government, draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2022-2032, section 5.1.

power to take an action or make a statutory instrument includes a power to revoke, amend or vary the action or instrument. That power resides with the Minister.

1.3.3. Content of WAPs

The Minister largely controls the content of WAPs. The Administrator of the NT (by convention on the advice of the Minister) may declare beneficial uses of water in a WCD: s.22A(1), and s.4(3) defines the potential beneficial uses of water, which include water for a mining activity or a petroleum activity. By statutory declaration, the "environment" and "Aboriginal economic development" are beneficial uses of water in a water control district: s.22A(2).

A WAP for a WCD must ensure that water is allocated within the "estimated sustainable yield to beneficial uses", and such allocation "is to include an allocation to the environment": s.22B(5)(a) and (6). An allocation of the estimated sustainable yield to beneficial uses is also to include "an Aboriginal water reserve" if any of the land in the WCD subject to the WAP is "eligible land": s.22B(7) and 22C. The Minister must consult the relevant Aboriginal Land Council before designating eligible land for an Aboriginal water reserve. The total volume of water allocated "for all beneficial uses" (including all statutory and licence access rights) must be less than the sum of the allocations to each beneficial use": s.22B(5)(b).

1.3.4. Legal effects of a WAP

There are three express legal consequences where a WAP applies in a WCD. First, the licence rights to take surface or ground water must be tradable (in part or full): s.22B(5)(c). Secondly, the water resources management "is to be in accordance with any water allocation plan ...": s.22B(4). Thirdly, the Controller "must take into account" any applicable water allocation plan in making decisions about water extraction licences, including the grant or amendment of such licences: s.90(1)(ab). The exact meanings of these provisions are open to legal interpretation.

First, neither the Act nor Regulations provides a water trading process or authorisation (except for s.71J in the context of Part 6B relating to land development), so it seems that water trading is to be regulated under a WAP. For example, the Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031²⁸ and draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2022-2032,²⁹ provide for the authorisation of a water trading agreement provided it is consistent with the department's policy on water trading. The power to make WAPs in s.22B includes subsection (5)(c), which provides that a WAP "is to ensure that ... the right to take water under a licence granted under section 45 or 60 is able to be traded (in part or in full)". There is no apparent statutory authority for the Department to make a water trading policy with any legal effect, so the design and application of any such policy will be within the discretion of the Department.

Secondly, does s.22B(4) impose a legal duty on the Controller to manage the water resources in compliance with the relevant WAP? What legal effect does the WAP have on licensees and other stake holders, including those with public interests? Can it create binding legal rights and duties that may be enforced by the Controller against private persons, and vice versa, or even between private parties? There is also the question of the legal effect of s.90(1) requiring the Controller to "take into account" any applicable WAP when making decisions about water extraction licences, discussed below at 2.2.3. As explained in Part 1.1 above, the NWI envisages a statutory water planning system that creates legal

²⁸ Northern Territory Government, Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031, section 4.3.

²⁹ Northern Territory, draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2022-2032, section 4.5.

certainty for the public and private interest outcomes of a plan. There is doubt about whether the succinct planning provisions of the Water Act achieve this. Nevertheless, the Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031,³⁰ section 4.2 purports to provide a limit on the grant or amendment of water extraction licences in excess of the plan allocation.

1.3.5. Consultation

Consultation in the making and administration of a WAP is important. The **NWI Schedule E, cl.6**, points to that importance in making a water allocation plan: see Part 1.1 above. The Water Act's only recognition of a consultation mechanism is in the Minister's power to establish and appoint members to a Water Advisory Committee (**WAC**) for the Territory or a part of the Territory or a particular purpose: s.23(1). There is no statement of any function of a WAC in relation to preparing a WAP, but one assumes that a WAC could advise the Controller in relation to water licensing and the preparation of a WAP. If a WAP is declared, the Minister "may" establish and appoint members to a WAC for the plan: s.23(1A).

The word "may" is used in each subsection to authorise the Minister to exercise this power. There is an interesting question whether the Minister could have a duty to exercise the power to establish a WAC for a declared WAP. A WAC appointed for a WAP is to advise the Controller on the effectiveness of the WAP and is authorised to perform functions conferred on it by the Controller: s.23(1B)(b). However, the Act provides no criteria for the appointment of members or their term; these issues are determined entirely by the Minister, so the WACs enjoy no independent legitimacy or security of tenure. I am instructed that little use is made of the Water Act's provisions for WACs, and this is supported by evidence presented to the PC 2020 Inquiry.³¹

1.3.6. Water allocation planning policies

There are, of course, other important provisions in the Water Act; for example, Part 6A relating to the Controller's decisions on water extraction licences. The provisions described above are those that may be relevant to the administration of water allocation planning, including for water accounting.

In the administration of water allocation planning, there are four important policy instruments that supplement the statutory framework in implementation of the NWI objectives and commitments. These instruments will be discussed further in Part 2. In summary, they are as follows.

- Classification of the Top End and Arid Zone for Northern Territory water resources, 2021³² defines, by climatic and hydrologic criteria, these two water resource zones for water resource allocation purposes according to "contingent allocation rules". In simple terms, the "Top End" is characterised by regular (annual) wet season rainfall greater than 600mm and regular (annual) groundwater recharge. The "Arid Zone" is characterised by no regular wet season rainfall, less than 600 mm annually and infrequent groundwater recharge, if at all.
- <u>Water Allocation Planning Framework, 2000</u>³³ sets the framework for issuing licences by prescribing the "contingent allocation rules" for non-consumptive water allocations in the Top

_

³⁰ Northern Territory Government, Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031, section 4.2.

³¹ See below Section 2.1.4, Community partnerships and consultation.

³² Northern Territory Government, Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, Water Resources Division, "Classification of the Top End and Arid Zone for Northern Territory water resources", 2021.

³³ Northern Territory Government, Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Policy, "Northern Territory Water Allocation Planning Framework", 2000, amended 2020.

End and Arid zones in respect of both rivers and aquifers where there is an absence of directly related research. For example, this policy allocates 80% of a Top End river flow at any time for environmental and public benefit. There are important questions of interpretation, especially in respect of the Arid Zone Aquifers rule that "total extraction over a period of at least 100 years will not exceed 80 per cent of the total aquifer storage at the start of extraction". Another question is does this policy apply to the allocation of surface or ground water by a WAP?

- Applying announced allocation licence conditions³⁴ describes the process for making an annual allocation to licences varying the volume of licensed extraction in response to water availability. This process is generally applied to Top End water resources, and less frequently to Arid Zone water resources. This policy applies where more than 50% of the consumptive pool is allocated for extraction under water licences and may be applied to supplement the terms of a WAP or to maintain 80% of Top End natural river flows in accordance with the Water Allocation Planning Framework. It is unclear when this policy was adopted and first applied.
- <u>Surface Water Take Wet Season Flows Policy</u>: 2022 Draft for consultation³⁵ provides allocation rules for the consumptive use taking of surface water in the Top End wet season *at three levels of decision-making*; annual licensing and annual allocations to licenses and under a WAP. It is an adjunct to the NT Water Allocation Planning Framework, which is said not to apply to "surface water take during the wet season". The draft instrument purports to express a "contingent allocation rule … applied when scientific research is not available". Where:
 - relevant and <u>available scientific research establishes the maximum volume</u> that may be extracted, that will guide the decision-making;
 - the <u>scientific research is not available</u>, the draft instrument sets a "contingent allocation rule" for a Top End river basin that the "consumptive pool" is calculated as 5% of the 25th percentile of (average annual?) total flows recorded over 50 years for the three highest flow months (January, February, March).

The questions are why would such a non-statutory instrument be adopted to inform licensing decisions under a WAP that has been adopted under the Act, and how is the consumptive pool contingent allocation of 5% of the 25th percentile of the three wettest months to be allocated between competing licensees? This draft policy is further considered in Part 2.5.2.

Summary

In summary, the description of the legislative and policy provisions shows a highly flexible regulatory framework for water resource management in the NT. The water resource uses may range from:

- Statutory water access rights for limited public and private purposes,
- to permitting and licensing for water resources access greater than the statutory authorisations outside WCDs,

³⁴ Northern Territory Government, Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, "<u>Announced water allocations</u>" website, including "announced allocation fact sheet" (undated).

³⁵ Northern Territory Government, Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, "<u>Surface Water Take – Wet Season Flows Policy: Draft for consultation</u>", 15 September 2022.

• up to situations of both direct statutory and licence authorisation of water use triggering a regime of WCDs and WAPs that purports to establish a formal water allocation planning system.

The implied statutory purpose of a WAP is that it should be applied in the management of water resources that are subject to higher levels of water resource use, possibly levels that could exceed an estimated sustainable yield. At this level of allocation, Government should no longer be accepting or granting applications for water licences. Rather, any person seeking a new water access right will need to acquire such a right by water trading. Equally, a licensee proposing to reduce the extraction and use of water could decide to sell part of their licence entitlement.

With this framework in mind, I turn in Part 2 to an evaluation of the conclusions by the Badu Review, focusing on the three questions identified above in the "Overview of the work requested".

2. Advice on the conclusions of the Badu Review in relation to questions (1) - (3)

2.1. Badu Review Conclusions

The Badu Review "concluded that the NT's water planning processes are consistent with the provisions of the NWI and subsequent guideline documents". ³⁶ In support of this overall conclusion, the Badu Review makes seven observations about features of those water planning processes and identifies seven "focus areas for continuous improvement" of the NT's implementation of the "NWI's water planning related aspects". ³⁷

The seven observations about the features of the water planning processes are as follows.

- A. The type of specification of existing water extraction licences in the NT is currently appropriate for the context.
- B. Statutory water allocation plans (WAPs) are progressively being developed for areas where there is emerging demand and where there is the most competition for the use of groundwater. Outside those areas, NT-wide policies and procedures are being used to guide consistent decision making.
- C. Trading of water extraction licences is available in areas covered by WAPs.
- D. The water planning processes seek to balance social, economic and environmental values.
- E. Research and scientific assessments are carried out to develop knowledge to support planning processes.
- F. Community engagement is carried out as a part of the planning processes.
- G. Aboriginal Water Reserves are established under WAPs.

The Badu Review includes a detailed table in Appendix A and Appendix B purporting to assess the relevance of NWI principles, including as elaborated by the PC recommendations (Appendix B), to the NT context and evaluating the NT's implementation of the principles by reference to the seven observations listed above.

³⁶ Above n 1, Badu Review, executive summary, p.2.

³⁷ Above n 1, Badu Review, executive summary, pp.2-5.

2.2. Differences with the Badu Review

This advice differs from the Badu Review in three ways. First, the focus of this advice is more on the Badu Review discussion of "key themes" ³⁸ rather than a scrutiny of the detailed evaluation in Appendices A and B. Secondly, the Badu Review excludes from the scope of the review "[c]ommenting on the merits or otherwise of principles, strategies, rules etc. contained within, or the outcomes associated with, the specific provisions contained within WAPs, policies or guidelines". ³⁹ In contrast, this advice explicitly includes analyses of key strategies and policies and some WAP provisions in relevant assessments of NWI compliance.

Thirdly, the NWI is not a legal instrument; it is a national policy agreement subject to evolving policy elaboration. Any evaluation of the NT's water allocation planning and entitlement system against the NWI provisions and subsequent elaboration of the NWI principles must concede a degree of pragmatism and subjectivity. The Badu Review evaluation is presented mainly as general factual observations of water resource management actions with occasional references to the statutory support for those management actions supporting the overall conclusion. This advice attempts a greater focus on evaluating the legal basis for the NT's implementation of the NWI.

The Badu Review describes itself as -

intended to provide high-level strategic advice regarding strategic water issues. Badu Advisory does not provide legal, engineering, financial services, or tax advice.⁴⁰

Nevertheless, the Badu Review acknowledges that the NT Government has proposed to develop new legislation to replace the *Water Act 1992* (NT), quoting the Draft Territory Water Plan (2022):⁴¹

The Water Act 1992 (NT) has provided a sound legislative basis for the investigation, allocation, use, control, protection, management and administration of water resources. However, it does not provide all the necessary mechanisms for best practice water resource management in the current context of climate change, growing competition for water and community expectations around governance and accountability.

This statement does not say or establish that the current law and policies are consistent with the NWI principles for water allocation planning. Further, the declaration in the Territory Water Plan 2023 that it is committed to meeting the NWI guidelines on water planning by taking various actions and developing new legislation tends to acknowledge that the current law and policy does not meet those guidelines, even if one chooses to describe the proposed reforms as "continuous improvement". 42

The following analysis is offered as advice on important legal reforms to implement the three key elements of the NWI, including the recommendations of the PC 2020 Inquiry Report, and drawing on the benefit of the Badu Review observations.

For convenience, I re-iterate the three questions to be answered in this advice. Are the Badu Review conclusions accurate in relation to the NWI consistency of the:

1) provisions of the Water Act and Water Regulations around water planning and allocation;

³⁸ Above n 1, Badu Review, pp.11-15.

³⁹ Above n 1, Badu Review, 1.3 Out of Scope, p.7.

⁴⁰ Above n 1, Badu Review, disclaimer, p.2.

⁴¹ Above n 1, Badu Review, executive summary, p.2. The *Territory Water Plan 2023* p.34 reiterates this.

⁴² Northern Territory Government, *Territory Water Plan 2023* pp.33-34.

- 2) general approach adopted for the development (preparation) and structure of Water Allocation Plans (WAPs); and
- 3) approach to water planning and allocation adopted in the NT "Water Allocation Planning Framework" (6 May 2020), including the contingent rules, annual allocation process and "Draft Surface Water Take Wet Seasons Flows Policy"?

Before addressing those questions, I note two points about the Badu Review.

- a) It gives seven summary observations to support its conclusion that the NT's water planning processes are consistent with the provisions of the NWI and subsequent guideline documents. These observations are cited, as relevant, to answering the three questions for this advice.
- b) It introduces (pp.8-9) the NT water planning context that describes the Territory's small population, with a large area at an early stage of development in which there are only 595 water extraction⁴³ licences granted and significant interest in mining and agricultural development opportunities. The obvious riposte could be that the predominantly very arid landscape with a high reliance on groundwater that is only infrequently recharged, is undeveloped in water intensive enterprises because there is little development potential. As pointed out in Part 1.1.1, one of the fundamental concepts of the NWI is not to over-allocate and / or overdraw surface and groundwater systems beyond an *environmentally-sustainable level of extraction*. This concept is fundamental to all water resource allocation, ⁴⁴ even to water resources that may be regarded as "undeveloped".

2.3. Are the Water Act and Water Regulations provisions around water planning and allocations consistent with the NWI commitments?

Part 1.1 above identifies three key elements of the NWI program of actions for water access entitlements and water planning and the NWI principles pertinent to those three elements. The following discussion analyses the content of the Water Act and Water Regulations against those principles, noting the relevant observations of the Badu Review and recommendations of the PC 2020 Inquiry Report.

2.3.1. Legal security of access entitlements and plan provisions for environmental & other public benefit outcomes

The Badu Review does not specifically address the legal security of access entitlements and plan provisions. However, the PC does address the character of this legal security question in so far as it asks whether jurisdictions have complied with the NWI by making progress "in affording environmental water at least the same level of security as water for consumptive uses". ⁴⁵

This question is generally raised by the Badu Review observation "D. the water planning processes seek to balance social, economic and environmental values". Thus, our question becomes: do the NT's statutory water allocation plans provide for similar legal security for water access entitlements and environmental outcomes consistently with the NWI principles?

⁴³ I am instructed that, in early February 2024, there are 607 licences granted.

⁴⁴ For example, see Water Act 2007 (Cth) ss.3 and 23.

⁴⁵ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020)*, 2021, p.31. And see NWI para [35(i)].

The PC concludes that, "overall", jurisdictions (except Western Australia) have "largely achieved their NWI commitments regarding water for environmental and public benefit outcomes". 46 The PC's explanation is that jurisdictions have afforded "environmental water at least the same level of security as water for consumptive uses". The PC also concludes that the NT conducts ongoing monitoring of water plan areas. 47 With respect, the PC's evaluation is based simply on whether the making of a water plan is under a statutory provision; there is no evaluation of the terms of the legislation providing for water planning and consumptive use entitlements.

The Water Act Parts 5 and 6 provide for the grant of legally secure water licences on conditions for surface and ground water resources, the terms of which may be varied by direction⁴⁸ subject to the provision for just compensation to the extent that the exercise of a statutory power or function constitutes an acquisition of property.⁴⁹ The Controller may also, during the currency of a licence, serve a notice on a licensee to amend the licence terms and conditions though not to increase the total quantity of water that may be taken.⁵⁰ In exercising such a power, the Controller must "take into account" any relevant factors from a long list of considerations, including any applicable WAP.⁵¹ The Controller may also suspend or revoke a licence if the licence holder has contravened a licence condition.⁵² A "person aggrieved by an action or decision" under the Water Act may apply to the Minister for review.⁵³ A person aggrieved would also have rights to seek judicial review of an action or decision. The key point here is that, although the Controller may amend water licences, including because of the provisions of a WAP, consumptive use entitlements are held under licences that may only be changed by the exercise of a statutorily defined power that is subject to review.

There is not the same legal security for water plan provisions for environmental and public benefit outcomes. First, the NT is one of five jurisdictions that do not hold environmental water under water access entitlements.⁵⁴ Secondly, the power of the Minister to declare WCDs and WAPs, described in Part 1.3.1 – 1.3.2 above, is not subject to any statutory statement of process for making or amending a WAP. Although the Minister may specify the period of a water plan (s.22B(2)), there appears to be no legal barrier to the Minister replacing a plan with a new plan before the specified term has expired. As noted in Part 1.3.2, the Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031 and draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2022-2032 purport to provide an internal authorisation to amend the plan.

It is acknowledged that the Minister's power to change a WAP may be exercised to increase or decrease the plan allocation to environmental outcomes or consumptive use purposes. The difference is that a change in plan allocation to consumptive use purposes will not affect the existing water licences, but it will immediately and directly affect the only legal expression of an environmental water

⁴⁶ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, p.31.

⁴⁷ Ibid p.140.

⁴⁸ Water Act ss.45, 60 and 70.

⁴⁹ Water Act s.107.

⁵⁰ Water Act s.93(1) and (4).

⁵¹ Water Act s.90

⁵² Water Act s.93(2).

Water Act s.30. I have not researched how the test of standing to appeal a decision has been applied.

⁵⁴ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020)*, 2021, p.133.

allocation. I conclude, therefore, that planned environmental water does not have the same legal security as allocations under consumptive use entitlements.

2.3.2. Water Access Entitlements, Seasonal Allocations and Water resource accounting

The Badu Review observations A and C are:

- A. "The type of specification of existing water extraction licences in the NT is currently appropriate for the context."
- C. "Trading of water extraction licences is available in areas covered by WAPs."

As explained in Part 1.1, the NWI paragraphs [28]-[30] propose the "unbundled" entitlements for water access, allocation and use. The NT's NWI response and commitment in respect of these principles was to acknowledge that it partially met these principles and would conduct consultation to propose law reform to meet the NWI requirements by December 2006 and implement consumptive pool management in water access entitlements and in water allocation plans on an ongoing basis.⁵⁵

The PC reported in 2021 that the NT has not enacted legislation to create secure, NWI-consistent water access entitlements for consumptive use, though it had made progress since 2017 by removing the exemption from the entitlements framework for the minerals and petroleum industries. ⁵⁶

The PC has commented that "fully NWI consistent entitlements may not be necessary in relatively undeveloped water systems, as demand for the resource is low and water sources may be poorly understood. However, as competition for water resources increases, so too would the costs of not having NWI consistent entitlements." The PC maintained the view it expressed in 2017: the reform of entitlements should occur where cost effective. I do not have the information to evaluate the cost effectiveness of reforming the NT entitlement regime in relation to those water resources that are the subject of WAPs. However, analysis of the legislation shows that the NT entitlement regime is not fully NWI compliant, even where a WAP and water trading are purportedly in place.

First, the Water Act expresses no specific power(s) to amend or vary a water allocation under a licence to give effect to the Announced Allocations policy and NWI para [29]. However, the *Interpretation Act* 1978 (NT) ss.42-43 provide that a power to grant a statutory instrument includes the power to subject it to any conditions, and that a power to take an action or make a statutory instrument includes a power to revoke, amend or vary the action or instrument. These provisions will be subject to the operation of specific powers under the Water Act to grant licences on conditions and to amend those licence conditions, as discussed in Part 2.1.1. The PC's evidence is that the Controller may grant and amend water licences and include in Top End ground and surface water licences the "announced allocation" condition authorising the Controller to apply an "annual reduction percentage". Sa Although I have no evidence as to how widely used is the licence condition facilitating the Announced Allocations policy, it may be concluded that the NT's water allocation framework is compliant with

⁵⁶ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020)*, 2021, pp.3, 11 and 14.

⁵⁵ Northern Territory Government, NWI Implementation Plan 2006, pp.16-19.

⁵⁷ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020)*, 2021, p.16, referring to Supporting Paper A, *Entitlements and planning*.

Australian Government, Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, p.26. See, for example, NT Government, "Announced water allocations" https://nt.gov.au/environment/water/management-security/water-allocation/announced-water-allocations.

NWI paragraph [29]⁵⁹ where a WAP and licence conditions facilitate the application of the Announced Allocations policy to make annual allocations of available water to water licences.

In other respects, the NT water licences are not NWI compliant.

- The term of a licence is limited to 10 years, rather than being perpetual: s.45(4) and 60(3)-(4), unless the Minister agrees to issue a longer-term licence in special circumstances.
- The licence is not fully separated from land title because the licence application form requires a description of "Property from which the water is to be extracted" and "Property on which water is to be used".⁶⁰
- The water licence entitlement to access (take) water is not "unbundled" or separated from the instrument for regulation of the use of the water: s.90(1).
- Further, the NT applies "a licensing policy that requires entitlement holders to trade or use their water allocation over a specified period, or have it reduced or forfeited" the so-called 'use it or lose it' policy. The PC comments that this policy is inconsistent with the NWI goal of secure property rights, 2 whereas the Badu Review comments: 43

There should also be continued focus on the success of the current approach of reviewing and removing unused water extraction licences as this will become more difficult as water resources become more fully allocated.

It is suggested that the NT's proposed legislative reform should provide for a transition to an NWI compliant entitlement system when a water allocation plan is made for the water resource. NSW and Queensland adopted this approach in the legislative reforms to transition to the NWI system. These reforms will better enable sustainable water resource management, including environmental water outcomes. They will also require better water accounting.

NWI para [80] proposes effective water resource accounting, with a register of entitlements, and adequate measurement, monitoring and reporting systems to support public confidence in the "amount of water being traded, extracted for consumptive use, and recovered and managed for *environmental and other public benefit outcomes*". Although there is a register of water licences for recording key information about the licensee and licence authorised by Regulation,⁶⁴ there are no legislative provisions for regulating the making or recording of the water allocations and no legislative support for the "water trade register".⁶⁵ Rather, there seems to be a frequent use of government websites to prescribe regulatory requirements, even in respect of water resources that are subject to a WAP and, therefore, at a level of development that warrants NWI compliant regulation.

⁵⁹ See NWI para [29]: "The allocation of water to a water access entitlement will be made consistent with a water plan ...". And see Part 1.1.2 above.

Northern Territory Government, Form for water licence application under sections 45 and 60: https://nt.gov.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0008/944783/apply-to-take-water-form.pdf. Water Regulations 8 and 9 provide that an application must be in accordance with the approved form, but there appears to be no form prescribed by the Water Regulations.

⁶¹ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation *Progress* (2017-2020), 2021, p.15.

⁶² Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020)*, 2021, p.15.

⁶³ Above n 1, Badu Review 6.2.5 at p.17.

⁶⁴ Water Act s.95 and Water Regulation 17.

⁶⁵ https://nt.gov.au/environment/water/licensing/water-extraction-licence/water-trading

With respect, the Badu Review comment⁶⁶ that this is a 'fit for purpose' entitlement and trading system does not seem supported by lack of a legislated framework to implement the NWI principles or by the PC 2020 Inquiry Report. The PC concluded:

"jurisdictions have largely achieved their NWI commitments for water accounting ... However, ... demand for more information (particularly at the system level) and timely provision of it have increased. Water accounting requires improvement so [that] it is fit-for-purpose, particularly at the system level where water resources are fully developed." 67

In respect of reporting on delivery of planned environmental water, the PC added: "... there is scope for improvement. ... the amount of information made publicly available for planned environmental water and its accessibility is limited, and reporting is irregular in some jurisdictions." On non-urban water metering and measurement, the PC explained that national guidelines were agreed in 2019 and a NT Non-Urban Water Metering Code of Practice for Water Extraction Licences allows for implementation up to 2027 instead of by the nationally agreed July 2020. As at August 2020, "the proportion of water use ... allocated through licences" in the NT was unknown as all water resources have not been quantified and some licences had multiple extraction points requiring metres.

2.3.3. Indigenous access to water resources

The Badu Review observation G is that: "Aboriginal Water Reserves are established under WAPs."

As noted in Part 1.1 above, the NWI [52]-[54] call for the inclusion of Indigenous representation in water planning and the incorporation of Indigenous objectives and strategies for achieving those objectives, plus allocation of water to native title holders, but does not explicitly say that water resources legislation should recognise Indigenous water needs through conferral of access entitlements in addition to plan provisions.

The Water Act provides that a WAP may allocate water "to meet aesthetic, recreational and cultural needs", 71 and this statutory power should enable the NT to meet the PC's recommendation that WAPs should provide for "clear, measurable and well-informed cultural outcomes" and that cultural outcomes "should be pursued through environmental watering where they are consistent with achieving agreed ecological outcomes". 72 The PC records various actions in the NT for better recognising Indigenous cultural values and their water requirements, 73 and affirms that native title rights to access water for personal, domestic, social and cultural purposes are recognised in native title determinations but the right to use water for commercial purposes has not yet been recognised in native title law. 74

21

⁶⁶ Above n 1, Badu Review 6.2.5 at p.17.

⁶⁷ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, p.151.

⁶⁸ Ibid p.153. The PC does not identify jurisdictions with this observation, so it seems generally true.

⁶⁹ Ibid p.155. See also PC, Supplementary Paper E, "Ensuring the integrity of water resource management", May 2021, pp.18-19.

⁷⁰ Ibid p.158.

⁷¹ Water Act s.4(3)(c). Such an allocation could be for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal cultural values.

Australian Government, Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, Supporting Paper D, Key points, p.4.

⁷³ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, *Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020)*, 2021, p.39 ff.

⁷⁴ Ibid.

However, the NT has made progress on this last point. Under the NT's Strategic Aboriginal Water Reserve Policy, a WAP *may* set aside a proportion of water for eligible Aboriginal Water Rights holders. The implementation of this policy was not successful. For example, the Katherine Tindall Limestone Water Allocation Plan 2019-2024 established a "Strategic Aboriginal Water Reserve" with a "notional (empty) reserve until water is available for allocation".

The Water Act was amended in 2019 to *require* a WAP to provide for an Aboriginal water reserve for Aboriginal economic development, with the amendments commencing operation on 8 July 2020.⁷⁷ The new statutory provisions do three things for WAPs:⁷⁸

- 1. define "Aboriginal economic development" to be economic development by or for the benefit of eligible Aboriginal people;
- 2. declare Aboriginal economic development to be a beneficial use of water in a WCD; and
- 3. require a WAP to include an Aboriginal water reserve if any land in the WCD to which the WAP relates is "eligible land" (which is defined, essentially, to be land held under exclusive native title or private land held for the benefit of Aboriginal people)⁷⁹ and designate that land in the WAP if there are water resources there.⁸⁰

The 2019 amendments also conferred on the Controller a limited power to grant water extraction licences allocating water in an Aboriginal water reserve.⁸¹ The Controller must not grant a water extraction licence for water in an Aboriginal water reserve unless consent is given by Aboriginal persons of a prescribed class in a prescribed manner and form. I am instructed that no regulations have been made to prescribe the class of persons to give consent or the manner and form of consent. Presently, the Controller has no power to grant licences to take water from an Aboriginal water reserve.

Perhaps the Regulations to prescribe the consultation process are yet to be approved because of the potential tension between a statutory requirement for a WAP to provide an Aboriginal water reserve and situations where a water resource may already be fully allocated to existing consumptive use purposes. The PC's recommendation is that governments work with Traditional Owners to determine pathways for economic development and facilitate access to consumptive water entitlements within existing entitlement frameworks, either by allocating from the consumptive pool where it is not fully allocated or by buying water on the market where the consumptive pool is fully allocated.⁸² It seems

⁸⁰ Water Act s.22C.

Northern Territory Government, Strategic Aboriginal Water Reserve: Policy Framework, version 13/10/17, and Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, Supporting Paper D, p.25.

Northern Territory Government, Department of Environment and Natural Resources (2019), <u>Katherine Tindall Limestone Aquifer Water Allocation Plan 2019-2024</u>, pp.8, 15 and 52. At the declaration of this plan, Aboriginal Water Reserve was not a beneficial use class recognised under Water Act s.4(3) and so there could have been a lack of statutory authority under s.22B(5)(a) to allocate water to this purpose within the estimated sustainable yield.

⁷⁷ Water Further Amendment Act 2019 (NT) inserted a set of provisions to establish Aboriginal water reserves for Aboriginal economic development, which commenced operation on 8 July 2020. for

⁷⁸ See Water Act ss.4(1), 4(3)(j), 22A(2)(b) and 22B (7).

⁷⁹ Water Act s.4B.

⁸¹ Water Act s.71BA.

⁸² Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, Supporting Paper D, p.4.

that the NT Water Act and Regulations are close to being able to do this, subject to improved rights and procedures for community partnerships and consultation.

2.3.4. Community partnerships and consultation

The Badu Review observed that:

"F. Community engagement is carried out as a part of the planning processes."

The Water Act provisions for the establishment and functions of a WAC are discussed above at 1.3.5.

The PC noted that the NT had reported that its WACs, which have Aboriginal members, "continued to contribute to the development of water allocation plans" and that on-country engagement in water planning helped improve water literacy, co-design Aboriginal engagement in water planning, and to seek advice on Aboriginal water management requirements. However, a Northern Land Council (NLC) submission to the PC Inquiry asserted "continued erosion of the ability for community and stakeholders to be involved in water management decisions made by government which affect their rights and interests" and that "community engagement arrangements associated with water planning, licensing and management in the NT need to be significantly improved". The NLC commented particularly about the decline in the functioning of the water advisory committees, the only formal mechanism for community involvement in the water allocation planning; it pointed to a decline in committee memberships from 80 in 2017 to 12 in March 2021.

The PC was unable to make a "fully informed judgement" on whether all Australian governments had largely achieved the NWI requirement to provide information to support community engagement with decision making processes and respond to stakeholder concerns. However, through Supporting Paper J, the PC emphasized the importance of effective community engagement and extolled the guidelines for the attributes of effective engagement practice, noting that the NWI provisions had arguably become dated and were no longer fully fit for purpose as the range and nature of water management reform priorities had changed. Much of the concern was with the evolution of community engagement perceptions in the Murray-Darling Basin, but there can be no doubt that the PC's advocacy of best-practice principles is equally applicable to the NT.

The Badu Review acknowledges the challenges in the NT in Aboriginal engagement – effective community engagement takes time. Review gives close attention to improving stakeholder engagement, including an increased focus on the water interests of Aboriginal people. This is particularly so in areas where the NT Government decides not to prepare a WAP but seeks only to apply water planning principles and policy-based rules when dealing with licence applications. Review of the NT Government decides not to prepare a WAP but seeks only to apply water planning principles and policy-based rules when dealing with licence applications.

For now, it suffices to notice again the complete lack of guidance on water resource planning process under the present legislation, except for the Minister's discretionary power to appoint WACs. The NWI conceives of water allocation planning as a statutory process. All other Australian jurisdictions'

85 Ibid 204.

⁸³ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, p.200.

⁸⁴ Ibid 204.

⁸⁶ Above n1, Badu Review p.12.

⁸⁷ Above n1, Badu Review pp.16-17.

legislation includes legal guidance on planning process; the Water Act (NT) is alone in not doing so.⁸⁸ Two points may be made about that lack of legal guidance in relation to the Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031.⁸⁹

First, for example, there is no evidence given in the WAP documents of the appointment of a WAC for consultation regarding the preparation of the Georgina Wiso WAP. The WAP section 5 says that a WAC will be established where appropriate to advise on the effectiveness of the plan. Given the apparent contest of competing interests (for example, the petroleum industry and some Aboriginal communities) in the area of the Georgina Wiso WAP, there are three deficiencies in the terms of the Water Act s.23 for the establishment of WACs: there is no explicit duty on the Minister to establish and resource a WAC; there is no statutory guidance on the composition and term of members of a WAC; and there is no duty to include a report on the consultation that was undertaken.

Secondly, there is no evidence in the WAP documents of any other form of consultation. I am instructed that the draft WAP documents were released for four weeks of consultation between 18 November and 16 December 2022. The NWI Water Policy Guidelines 2010 say "[t]here is a need to allow sufficient time for appropriate engagement. A rule of thumb is that at least 12 months should be provided for engaging stakeholders in the planning process when capacity building is required. Stakeholders need time to develop the skills to participate in a meaningful manner."⁹¹

Although the NWI provisions cited in Part 1.1.2 do not indicate any form of legal prescription for consultation, let alone a requirement to form an advisory committee, the NWI Water Planning Guidelines 2010 include various propositions in sections 3.1 and 3.2 that could inform legislative reforms on consultation.

- An overarching principle: "Stakeholders should be engaged throughout the planning process. ...
 To be transparent, the process by which objectives and outcomes of water plans are identified
 should be made publicly available, including the information base upon which trade-offs and
 decisions are made."
- A set of principles about stakeholder engagement: including stakeholder identification, timing and type of stakeholder engagement, adequacy of information and opportunity for stakeholder input, and stakeholder engagement in setting outcomes.

2.4. Is the general approach adopted for the development (preparation) and structure of Water Allocation Plans (WAPs) consistent with the NWI?

The Badu Review makes four broadly relevant observations here (B, D, E, and F), but I focus on one.

"B. Statutory water allocation plans ... are progressively being developed for areas where there is emerging demand and there is the most competition for the use of groundwater. Outside those areas, NT-wide policies and procedures are being used to guide consistent decision making."

0

⁸⁸ It is acknowledged that the statutory provisions for water allocation planning under the *Rights in Water and Irrigation Act 1914* (WA) have not been used in more than twenty years: See Gardner et al, *Water Resources Law*, 2nd edition, chapter [15.2].

⁸⁹ Northern Territory Government, <u>Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031</u>, and the Georgina Wiso Background Report 2023-2031.

⁹⁰ Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031, section 5, p.12.

NWI Water Policy Guidelines for Water Allocation Planning, 2010, Section 3.2, Stakeholder engagement. See also, above n1, Badu Review p.12, acknowledging the impact of timing on effective community engagement.

I have no bases for disagreeing with this observation as a statement of fact. The pertinent legal and policy question is whether key attributes of the NT's water allocation planning system are consistent with the NWI in respect of those issues that extend beyond the NWI principles addressed in Part 2.1. Three attributes of the NT planning system warrant attention for their significance in the preparation and structure of WAPs:

- When to make a WAP and over what area?
- The separation of a WAP into three documents, and
- The Water Act prescription of WAP content and legal effect.

2.4.1. When to make a WAP and over what area?92

Until recently, a relatively small proportion of the land area of the NT has been covered by a WAP. This area has been much increased by the recent declaration of the Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031. Other WAPs are being drafted for the same WCD. 93 The **NWI paragraph [38]** makes clear that the NT will determine when a plan is prepared, the area it covers, the detail, duration and time of review, and the resources devoted to its preparation "based on an assessment of the level of development of water systems, projected future consumptive demand and the risks of not having a detailed plan". The NWI Policy Guidelines for Water Planning and Management 2010 (NWI Policy Guidelines) gives further guidance on how a jurisdiction may decide "when a plan is justified".94

The Badu Review, in referring to the NWI Policy Guidelines, says that the principles and considerations for developing the plans that are "relevant to the NT" are to "[i]dentify the scale and type of plan: The NT water resources tend to be low-use and low-risk systems. The challenge is to use transparent risk assessments to show that basic approaches are fit-for-purpose."95 [emphasis added] It is helpful to make a few points from the NWI Policy Guidelines.

- A search of that document shows that the term "fit-for-purpose" is used only once in the context of optimising the use of fit-for-purpose water and water from alternative sources; i.e., it describes water quality. The NWI Policy Guidelines do not use that term to describe approaches to water planning. The PC does use this term in its Implementation Assessment report in the context of suggesting system improvements, such as in water accounting and reporting.⁹⁶
- The NWI Policy Guidelines does say that "[a] water plan may not be justified in low-use low-risk systems, or perhaps only a very basic plan is needed in these cases, ...". 97 Increasing pressure on the resource and risks of environmental harm are the main reasons for developing a plan. An example of this increasing resource pressure could be the factors that led to the making of the Georgina Wiso WAP 2023-2031.98

⁹² These issues are discuss in Gardner et al, Water Resources Law, LexisNexis, 2nd ed, 2018, [15.14]-[15.33].

⁹³ Northern Territory Government, Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, *Georgina Wiso* Background Report 2023-2031, Overview, p.6. In the same WCD, the plans in draft are for Mataranka and Floro River.

⁹⁴ NWI Policy Guidelines for Water Allocation Planning, 2010. A copy of the Guidelines is apparently not available on the Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water website on "National Water Initiative policy guidelines and support modules", visited 20 December 2023.

⁹⁵ Above n1, Badu Review p.36, Table item 38.

⁹⁶ Australian Government, Productivity Commission, Assessment of National Water Initiative Implementation Progress (2017-2020), 2021, search for various uses of the term "fit for purpose".

⁹⁷ NWI Water Planning Guidelines

⁹⁸ Northern Territory Government, <u>Georgina Wiso Background Report 2023-2031</u>, p.7, refers to setting allocations to petroleum activities prior to significant development occurring.

- The NWI Policy Guidelines list various principles to apply in developing the plan, emphasising risk-based assessments and that "all plans should specify the sustainable water extraction regime for the system". The Guidelines then list considerations for "water system classification" as either:
 - o "conservation water systems" with little or no water resources development, and rules to minimise impacts on conservation values;
 - "low-development water systems" with low levels of demand and low ecosystem risks,
 which may be managed by regional management arrangements or simple water plans; and
 - "high-development water systems" with limits on total allocation designed to protect the resource and entitlement security for water users, and subject to more sophisticated management.

It is not surprising that the Badu Review has been brief and selective in citing propositions from the extensive NWI Policy Guidelines. However, the Badu Review emphasises a highly discretionary approach to interpreting the Guidelines application to the NT. For example, it gives no recognition to planning for conservation water systems; it addresses only low development systems that do not require a WAP and higher development systems that may or will require a WAP.

That said, it is consistent with the NWI for the NT to apply non-statutory policies and procedures to guide water licensing decisions in those areas not subject to a WAP.⁹⁹ However, there is a further question whether the content of those policies and procedures are consistent with the NWI; and that question is considered in Part 2.5 in relation to NT policies identified in Part 1.3.6.

2.4.2. A WAP in three documents

The NT Government has recently adopted the practice of presenting three separate documents for a WAP; a "background report", a statutory "water allocation plan" declared by the Minister under Water Act s.22B, and an "implementation actions report". How does this practice conform with the NWI principles and the NWI Policy Guidelines?

The relevant essential principles to be derived from the NWI [39]-[40] and Schedule E are paraphrased here.

- 39. The relevant State or Territory will prepare water plans 'along the lines' of Schedule E, paragraph (1) of which identifies the <u>characteristics</u> and <u>components</u> to guide the <u>preparation</u> of water plans, including descriptions of:
 - the water source or water sources covered by the plan (ie. its geographic or physical extent);
 - ii. the current health and condition of the system;
 - iii. the risks that could affect the size of the water resource and the allocation of water for consumptive use under the plan, in particular the impact of natural events such as climate change and land use change, or limitations to the state of knowledge underpinning estimates of the resource;
 - iv. the overall objectives of water allocation policies;

-

⁹⁹ See PC comments above at Part 2.3.2.

¹⁰⁰ For example, the <u>Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031</u> and the draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2022-2032 are presented this way: see the Overview description at the beginning of each of the three documents.

- v. the knowledge base upon which decisions about allocations and requirements for the environment are being made, and an indication of how this base is to be improved during the course of the plan;
- vi. the uses and users of the water including consideration of indigenous water use;
- vii. the *environmental* and other public benefit outcomes proposed during the life of the plan, and the water management arrangements required to meet those outcomes;
- viii. the estimated *reliability* of the water access entitlement and rules on how the consumptive pool is to be dispersed between the different categories of entitlements within the plan;
- ix. the rates, times and circumstances under which water may be taken from the water sources in the area, or the quantity of water that may be taken from the water sources in the area or delivered through the area; and
- x. conditions to which entitlements and approvals having effect within the area covered by the plan are to be subject, including monitoring and reporting requirements, minimising impacts on third parties and the environment, and complying with site-use conditions.
- 40. In implementing water plans, <u>Parties will monitor the performance of the water plan</u> (objectives, outcomes and management arrangements), factor in knowledge improvements, <u>and provide regular public reports to help water users and governments manage risk, with timely indications of possible changes to the consumptive pool.</u>

The 2010 NWI Policy Guidelines for Water Allocation Planning also says, at 3.7, Monitoring, "[a] monitoring program should be included in the plan to provide an ongoing assessment of whether the management objectives are being achieved ...".

At the time of the NT's NWI Implementation Plan 2006, the NT was in the early stages of water resource planning. The NT's NWI response¹⁰¹ was to endorse the above NWI principles, assert that water allocation plans incorporate strategic monitoring and knowledge improvement work programs that are reviewed in annual progress reports by Water Advisory Committees and that such reports would be made public and account for performance against the NWI principles. I have no evidence about the fulfilment of the reporting process but there are two comments to make about how the current plan documentation operates in relation to the above principles.

First, the new format of a WAP with a separate Background Report and Implementation Actions Report does not conform to the NWI guidance in Schedule E. While it is understandable that the NT Government wishes to confine the content of a WAP to those aspects of a water allocation plan that are to be given legal effect under the Water Act, in my opinion this model omits important content listed in (i) - (x) above.

For example, the Georgina Wiso WAP *does* address items (i), (iv), (vi), (vii) and aspects of (ix) but it *lacks* enough reference to items ii, iii, viii, ix and x. Information regarding items (ii), (iii) and (vii) – but not regarding reliability of access entitlements – can be found in the Background Report. Elements of (ix) and (x) can be found in the Implementation Actions report, such as Schedule G, Risk and adaptive management. The WAP provides less guidance to the Controller and licensees and other water users than the NWI envisages. Too much of the important decision-making on the limits of water licence abstraction of groundwater is left to be determined in the water licensing assessment process.

¹⁰¹ Northern Territory Government, NWI Implementation Plan 2006, pp.23-24, Key Action 2.4

Secondly, the NWI para [40] type of commitments for monitoring and reporting plan performance are also in the Georgina Wiso Implementation Actions report, sections 3 – 5. While the report contains much good information in this regard, it is a concern that the WAP says in Overview at p.4 that the Implementation Actions detail how the Water Act s.34 provisions for ongoing water resources assessment will apply to the water resources in the plan area. With respect, s.34 is too general to provide monitoring and reporting duties in respect of the implementation of the specific water allocation plan. The Water Act s.22B(4) provides "Water resource management in a water control district is to be in accordance with any water allocation plan declared in respect of the district". While the WAP Overview at p.4 refers to the Background Report and the Implementation Actions report, it also makes clear that it is only the WAP that is declared by the Minister under s.22B(1) of the Water Act and only the WAP that the Controller must take into account when making a decision under Water Act s.90 regarding licences. In my opinion, the provisions for monitoring and reporting need to be included in the water allocation plan to take the benefit of s.22B(4) and s.90. This would also be more consistent with the NWI principles, subject to the prescription of the legal effect discussed at Part 2.4.3.

2.4.3 Water Act prescription of the legal effect of the WAP content

The Georgina Wiso WAP 2023-2031 section 4.2 and the draft Western Davenport WAP 2022-2032 section 4.3 both declare that:

"[w]ater extraction licences cannot be granted or amended if the granting or amending would result in the total volume of water that may be taken from a water management zone exceeding the volume allocated to the water management zone and the beneficial use ...".

This statement seems to be consistent with the NWI vision for the legal effect of a WAP, as discussed above in Parts 1.1 and 1.3.4. However, as foreshadowed, there is doubt about whether the provisions of the Water Act achieve this legal result.

The Water Act also contains a concerning ambiguity in the expression of the legal effect of a water allocation plan. Section 22B(4) provides: "Water resource management in a water control district is to be in accordance with any water allocation plan declared in respect of the district" [emphasis added]. 'Water resource management' is not defined in the Water Act but usage of the term in the three planning documents makes clear that it is intended to include decision-making by the Controller.

The Water Act s.90(1) provides that, in deciding whether to grant or amend a licence or in making a water extraction licence decision, "the Controller must take into account any of the following factors that are relevant to the decision: ... (ab) any water allocation plan applying to the area in question" [emphasis added]. It is s.90(1) that is cited in the WAP Overviews, with no mention of s.22B(4). 102 The WAP Overviews go on to say that the Background Report and Implementation Actions "and other factors may be taken into account, where relevant to the decision". This statement may operate under s.90(1)(k), which authorises the Controller to consider any other factors the Controller considers should be "taken into account". The legal effect of s.90 propositions is less than the statement in s.22B(4) "to be in accordance with".

It is important to clarify what is the operation of these two provisions (ss.22B(4) and 90(1)) on the licensing decision-making of the Controller, which could benefit from statutory amendment.

¹⁰² Georgina Wiso Water A<u>llocation Plan 2023-2031, Overview, p.4,</u> and the draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2022-2032, Overview, p.5.

Australian jurisdictions give different legal effects to water allocation plans,¹⁰³ so there could be different opinions on what is the best practice for water planning regulation. The legal effect of the plan will also depend on the language used in the plan provisions.

The legal effect of ss.22B(4) and 90(1)(ab), and of the effect of the language in the Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2018-2021 (WDWAP), were addressed by the Supreme Court of the Northern Territory in Mpwerempwer Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC v Minister for Territory Families & Urban Housing as Delegate of the Minister for Environment & Anor and Arid Lands Environment Centre Inc v Minister for Environment & Anor [2024] NTSC 4 (delivered 31 January 2024) – the Singleton Station Case. This case concerned judicial review challenges to the appeal decision by the Minister upholding the grant, on 8 April 2021, of a water licence to take up to 40,000 megalitres of water for a large horticultural project to be developed in stages over 3,500 ha of pastoral lease land. The plaintiffs' concern was that the volume of water extraction authorised under the licence was "modelled to significantly lower the water table across a large area" of the subject land and adversely impact the environment generally and the Aboriginal cultural values and legal rights in the affected arid landscape: at [4], [5] and [10]. One of primary legal issues was the legal effect of ss.22B(4) and 90(1)(ab) on the scope of the licensing discretion of the Controller and the Minister (on appeal) because the licensed water allocation was inconsistent with WDWAP Part 8.2.1., which set limits to the modelled change in groundwater levels to protect groundwater dependent ecosystems (GDE): at [40].

An additional issue was the effect of a non-statutory document published by the NT Department of Environment and Natural Resources on 13 February 2020 entitled "Guideline: Limits of acceptable change to groundwater dependent vegetation in the Western Davenport Water Control District" (the Guideline"), which was expressed to be "intended to be read subject to the Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2018-2021": at [11]. However, it was acknowledged that the Guideline adopted different criteria from the WDWAP Part 8.2.1, purporting to protect 70% of current more ecologically valuable GDEs and setting different criteria for modelled drawdown in respect of shallow and deeper groundwater: at [11] and [61]-[65]. The Guideline purported to change the licensing criteria of the WDWAP Part 8.2.1. to a less rigorous set of criteria that provided less protection of GDEs. The Controller and, on review, the Minister applied the Guideline to the licence decision-making, explaining that the licence conditions were appropriate to manage the risk and uncertainty: at [66].

The Court rejected the plaintiffs' challenges on various grounds; the focus here is on the statutory interpretation issues described above. The Court's reasoning gave primacy to the decision-maker's duty to take account of the factors listed in s.90(1), including sub-paragraph (ab), any applicable water allocation plan, and s.90(1)(k), any other factors that the Minister considers should be taken into account, such as the Guideline. The Court opined that s.90(1) contained no requirement that the licence decision must accord with a relevant water allocation plan; rather, the purpose of a duty to take into account a plan and other factors "is to allow the decision maker to be guided by any such plan but not to be fettered in a way which would preclude consideration of a water extraction licence application which did not meet the criteria set out in the plan": at [47]. The Court concluded that the Minister had "a wide discretionary power under s.90(1)": at [48].

The Court then turned to whether s.22B(4) limited that power and obliged the Minister to refuse a licence application that "did not fully or substantially accord with the water allocation plan": at [49].

_

¹⁰³ See Gardner et al, Water Resources Law, 2nd edition, chapter 17.

The Court considered the legislative history of s.22B, inserted in 2000 to implement national water policy and the water allocation planning process. The Court held that the allocation planning process was the content of 'water resource management' in s.22B(4) and a "different sphere of operation" from the broad s.90(1) discretion to consider a range of relevant factors in water licence decision-making: at [51]-[59].

In my opinion, the NWI goals of water allocation plans providing for 'secure ecological outcomes' and 'resource security outcomes' means that a water allocation plan should be legally binding on the Controller making water licensing decisions and on licensees exercising rights under their water extraction licences. Securing this legal effect likely also requires a statutory prescription of the process for making water allocation plans. ¹⁰⁴

2.5. Is the approach to water planning and allocation adopted in the NT "Water Allocation Planning Framework" (6 May 2020), including the contingent rules, annual allocation process and "Draft Surface Water Take — Wet Seasons Flows Policy", consistent with the NWI?

How does the NT plan allocations of water to non-consumptive (environmental and other public benefit outcomes) and consumptive uses? The guidance on making these allocations comes from relevant provisions of the Water Act, especially s.22B, and four policies identified in Part 1.3.6:

- a. Classification of the Top End and Arid Zone for Northern Territory water resources, 2021;
- b. Northern Territory Water Allocation Planning Framework, 2000;
- c. Applying announced allocation licence conditions; and
- d. <u>Surface Water Take Wet Season Flows Policy</u>.

These policies seem potentially applicable to situations where there is no relevant WAP and to the preparation and application of a WAP. The classification of water resources is adequately described at 1.3.6 and application of the Announced Allocation Licence Conditions is discussed in Part 2.1.2, so attention will be given here to (b) and (d).

Three Badu Review observations are relevant here:

- "B. Statutory water allocations plans are progressively being developed for areas where there is emerging demand and where there is the most competition for use of groundwater. Outside those areas, NT-wide policies and procedures are being used guide consistent decision making.
- D. The water planning processes seek to balance social, economic and environmental values.
- E. Research and scientific assessments are carried out to develop knowledge to support planning processes."

2.5.1. Water Act s.22B and the concept of environmentally sustainable level of extraction

It is helpful to begin this analysis with the provisions of the Water Act for water allocations by WAPs, which are introduced in Part 1.3.3 above and, purportedly, give effect to the NWI concepts of "secure ecological outcomes", "tradable entitlements" in a "consumptive pool", and recognition of Indigenous needs: NWI paragraphs [23(iii)], [25(i), (ii) and (ix)], [28]-[29], [37] and others, which are discussed at Part 1.1. The main relevant provisions are s.22B(5), (6) and (7).

_

¹⁰⁴ Ibid, chapter [17.1].

- (5) The water allocation plans for a water control district are to ensure that:
 - (a) water is allocated within the *estimated sustainable yield* to beneficial uses; [emphasis added]
 - (b) the total water use for all beneficial uses (including those provided through rural stock and domestic use and licences granted under sections 45 and 60) is less than the sum of the allocations to each beneficial use;
 - (c) the right to take water under a licence granted under section 45 [surface water] or 60 [ground water] is able to be traded (in part or in full); ...
- (6) An allocation under subsection (5)(a) is to include an allocation to the environment.
- (7) An allocation under subsection (5)(a) is to include an Aboriginal water reserve ...

Ten potential beneficial uses are listed in s.4(3) and selectively declared applicable to the WCD by the NT Administrator, but always include "environment" and "Aboriginal economic development" by statutory declaration: s.22A(1) and (2).

The NT concept of "estimated sustainable yield" (ESY) is not defined in the Water Act but is defined in the Georgina Wiso WAP and the Draft Western Davenport WAP at section "3.1 Key definitions": it "means the amount of water that can be allocated from the water resource to support declared beneficial uses that is sustainable". These WAPs go on to explain that the ESY is determined having regard to several factors, including the NT's commitment to the NWI para [23(iv)] objective of an environmentally sustainable level of extraction (ESLT).

Applying Water Act s.22B(5)(a) and (6), the ESY is to be distinguished from the NWI concept of ESLT. ¹⁰⁶ The statutory concept of ESY includes consumptive and non-consumptive beneficial uses (including the environment), while ESLT defines a limit on the level of consumptive use allocated to the consumptive pool. The Georgina Wiso WAP attempts to avoid this distinction by creating a new class of water allocated to maintaining important ecological functions and other values outside of the ESY, thus applying a different approach to the ESY than that in s.22B.

"... the ESY is determined after prioritising water for non-consumptive uses. That is, the majority of the water is retained in the environment to maintain important ecological functions and for cultural purposes and values of water in the region. A comparatively low proportion of the water is allocated to the ESY and therefore available to take for drinking and sustainable development".¹⁰⁷

This approach in the Georgina Wiso WAP aligns the ESY more to consumptive use and makes a large allocation to "storage", a concept not included in the Water Act, in order to respect the ESLT: see Tables 1 and 2 at pp.9-10, copied below.

-

In the Draft Western Davenport WAP, section 3.1, has slightly different wording. The definition of ESY means "the amount of water that can be allocated from the water resource to support declared beneficial uses that are sustainable". It seems that in the Georgina Wiso WAP it is the allocated amount of water that is sustainable, while in the Draft WD WAP it is the beneficial uses that are sustainable.

¹⁰⁶ ESLT is defined in Part 1.1.1 above.

Northern Territory Government, the <u>Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031</u>, 10 November 2023, Section 3 "How is the water shared", "Overview", p.7.

Table 1 Estimated sustainable yield - groundwater (ML/year)

Groundwater ML	Georgina Basin	Wiso Basin	Total			
Cambrian Limestone Aquifer						
Inflows/year	0	0	0			
Recharge/year	585,000	46,000	631,000			
Outflows/year	3,500	300	3,800			
Evapotranspiration/year	0	0	0			
Storage	660,000,000	80,000,000	740,000,000			
Estimated sustainable yield ML/year	186,154	23,846	210,000			

Table 2 Allocation to beneficial uses - groundwater (ML/year)

Groundwater ML/year	Georgina Basin	Wiso Basin	Total			
Beneficial uses						
Rural stock and domestic	14,250	5,300	19,550			
Public water supply	800	216	1,016			
Aboriginal water reserve for Aboriginal economic development	17,109	3,142	20,251			
Petroleum activity	8,000	2,000	10,000			
Other consumptive uses - agriculture, aquaculture, cultural, industry, mining activity	145,985	13,178	159,163			
Environment ¹	10	10	20			
Total allocations ML/year	186,154	23,846	210,000			

¹ Nominal allocation within consumptive uses as requirement of the Act, section 22A(2), the majority of the water is retained in the environment for non-consumptive uses to maintain important ecological functions and for cultural purposes and values of water in the region.

As a concession to the statutory requirements of s.22A(2) and 22B(6), the WAP makes a nominal allocation of 10 ML/year to the environment as a statutory beneficial use. The true environmental allocation (i.e., the water not allocated to consumptive uses) is the vast volume of water designated as "storage". ¹⁰⁸ I know of no NWI concepts or principles that designate simply as storage a large volume of groundwater retained in the natural environment to achieve the ESLT, but further research is needed on this question.

Perhaps this would not matter if the WAP protected that storage from consumptive use allocation; but it does not. The problem is that the WAP (so-called) does not explain this, even though WAP section 4.2 states that "water extraction licences cannot be granted or amended" if doing so would result in the total volume of water that may be taken exceeding the volume allocated to the beneficial use in that zone. To gain a true understanding of the ESY and the application of "storage" water, one must study the Georgina Wiso Background Report. 109

The Background Report, sections 3-6, contain various explanatory propositions.

¹⁰⁸ See Georgina Wiso WAP Table 1, the figures of 660,000,000 and 80,000,000 allocated to 'storage'.

Northern Territory Government, Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, <u>Georgina Wiso background report 2023-2031</u>, Report 13/2023.

- Groundwater recharge is difficult to calculate. Groundwater discharge to groundwater dependent ecosystems is believed to be limited. Groundwater storage is believed to be very large. Section 3.5.2 3.6.2.
- Most of the water is retained and maintained for non-consumptive uses, including environmental water values, although the extent of terrestrial groundwater dependent ecosystems in the plan area is very limited. A low proportion of water is allocated to ESY: sections 4 and 6.
- Section 6 Overview: "The ESY is determined after prioritising water for non-consumptive uses". "Taking the ESY of 210,000 ML/year for 100 years means 97% of the current water remains stored. This percentage does not account for recharge events that will also occur during this period." This approach is set by the NT Water Allocation Planning Framework: Section 6, p.25.
- "In <u>arid regions like Georgina Wiso</u> where rainfall is low, unpredictable and recharge to water resources is infrequent, underground aquifers must be relied upon to sustain life. *It is necessary to use aquifer storage to balance infrequent recharge with a continuous demand for water.* Relying on stored water volumes is a more precautionary approach than relying on recharge, as it does not rely on highly variable recharge or uncertainties about climate change." [Emphasis added] Section 6 introduction and 6.3.2.
- After modelling the effect of future extractions based on existing and potential uses for a range
 of beneficial uses, the average annualised recharge calculated from the infrequent actual
 recharge events could sustain the proposed levels of annual extraction by resort to groundwater
 storage: section 6.3.3. Projected long term recharge from a slightly wetting climate trend could
 exceed groundwater drawdown from regular extraction.

I make three observations about my assessment of the Water Act s.22B, ESY and the concept of ESLT. First, the allocation planning provisions of the Water Act do not conform to the NWI principles for the primary reason that the definition of "beneficial uses" includes allocations to the environment which are then mistakenly included in the ESY. The Water Act concept of ESY is not applied in recent WAPs.

Secondly, the conceptual framework that designates long term storage of groundwater as for the benefit of environmental conservation values but equally accessible over time for consumptive use is inconsistent with the central principles of the NWI for consumptive pool management of share entitlements subject to prior environmental allocation. For example, the Georgina Wiso WAP conceptual framework allocates groundwater for consistent levels of consumptive use extraction when the variation in water availability would normally determine a variation in periodic allocations available for consumptive use extraction. It is acknowledged that the time scales for this variability in the Arid Zone of the NT are different from those of south-east Australia where NWI concepts were developed, and more research is needed to ascertain how share entitlements in consumptive pool management of groundwater have been implemented around Australia.

Thirdly, it is beyond my expertise to evaluate whether the propositions outlined in the Georgina Wiso Background Report present a sustainable water resource management framework. I cannot evaluate whether the Badu Review observations D and E are sustained by this framework.

2.5.2 Contingent Allocation Rules, especially where there is no WAP

It has already been explained that the NWI leaves with the State or Territory Government the decision when to make a WAP and over what area, subject to NWI policy guidance: see Part 2.4.1. It is also consistent with the NWI for the NT to apply non-statutory policies and procedures to guide licensing

decisions in areas not subject to a WAP. What can we say here about the Water Allocation Planning Framework and the Wet Season Flows Policy?

- 1) Both are legally unenforceable non-statutory policy instruments with the status of permissive relevant considerations in any decision making and may not be administered inconsistently with the Water Act. While both policies may be applied in preparing a WAP, the requirement of s.22B(4) to manage water resources in accordance with a declared WAP means that the terms of these policies may not be applied inconsistently with any such WAP.
- 2) Both emphasize that all available scientific research will be applied in setting water allocations and that contingent allocation rules will apply where that scientific research is not available.
- 3) Each of these policies has distinctive operation in relation to the defined Top End and Arid Zone.
- 4) The <u>Water Allocation Planning Framework</u> declares that water allocations for non-consumptive use will be set in priority to allocations for consumptive use. The contingent allocation rules for Top End rivers and aquifers allocate 80% of water for environmental and other public benefits and new licences will not be granted if they will exceed the 20% threshold. In the Arid Zone, at least 95% of flow at any time in any part of a river is allocated to the environment, and groundwater extractions are not to cause a "deleterious change in groundwater discharges to dependent ecosystems" or to exceed 80% of total aquifer storage over a period of 100 years from the start of extraction a proposition that seems directed at sustaining 80% of the original aquifer storage over a period of 100 years. Each of these principles forbids new licences to be granted "unless supported by directly related scientific research", but what constitutes "support" is quite unclear.
- 5) The <u>Wet Season Flows</u> contingent allocation rule applies to wet season "take" from Top End rivers and may inform licence decisions and the basis of consumptive use under a WAP. It presents a formula for calculating, from data across 50 years, a consumptive pool at 5% of the 25th percentile of total flows during the three highest flow months of the year (generally January March), which is estimated to be amount to 2% of median annual flow. The extraction entitlement will be set by licence conditions as to location and rates of take, and licensees will be required to monitor, record and report on the conditions of take. It is unclear how such licence entitlements would be allocated between competing licensees.

Are these policies consistent with the NWI? The persistent reliance on such non-statutory policies may delay the making of WAPs and be generally inconsistent with the NWI Policy Guidelines, as discussed in Part 2.4.1. On the other hand, there are no specific NWI principles that determine when a WAP should displace non-statutory policies and bring more specificity and certainty to water allocation. It is also beyond my expertise to comment on whether the environmental thresholds adopted in these policies conform to an ESLT. However, as the Badu Review comments, there is a particular concern with "the extent to which groundwater storage can be allocated", 110 especially in the Arid Zone. They comment that this practice seems "intended to enable access to groundwater storage for urban water supplies and not as a default level of allocation for consumptive purposes

34

¹¹⁰ Above n 1, Badu Review, section 6.2.4, "Precautionary decision making outside water allocation plan areas", pp.16-17, and section 6.2.7.

(such as agriculture)"; they recommend limiting the circumstances for such allocations. I suggest that the greater use of statutory WAPs is an appropriate means of limiting such allocations.

3. Summary of the Part 2 analysis of the Badu Review

3.1. Are the Water Act and Water Regulations provisions around water planning and allocations consistent with the NWI commitments?

 Legal security of access entitlements and plan provisions for environmental and other public benefit outcomes

Notwithstanding the PC's conclusion that, overall, the NT has afforded environmental water the same level of security as water for consumptive uses, an evaluation of the Water Act provisions shows that environmental water allocations have less security than water access entitlements. Consumptive uses are given the legal support of the WAP allocations and licences that are subject to various procedural protections. A WAP must make an environmental water allocation within the ESY, but the Water Act prescribes no process for amending a WAP; it can be changed entirely at the Minister's discretion.

Further, the analysis in Part 2.5.1 shows that the Water Act provisions for making an environmental water allocation as a "beneficial use" are unworkable because the s.22B(5) concept of ESY (estimated sustainable yield) is not functionally equivalent to an ESLT (ecologically sustainable level of take) because it incorporates both consumptive and non-consumptive allocations. The example of the Georgina Wiso WAP 2023-2031 departs from the statutory concepts to make only a nominal environmental water allocation while describing the vast bulk of the water retained for environmental values as "storage", a term that is not included in the Water Act or used in the NWI.

Water Access Entitlements, Seasonal Allocations and Water resource accounting

The PC repeated in its Water Reform 2020 report that the NT has not enacted legislation for the fully compliant NWI share entitlement regime. Even though such an entitlement regime may not be required in undeveloped water systems, analysis of the Water Act shows that the NT entitlement regime is not fully NWI compliant, even where a WAP and water trading are purportedly in place. The Announced Allocations policy implemented through licence conditions demonstrates compliance with NWI para [29], but this is implemented by administrative discretion and not required by law unless incorporated under a WAP.

In other respects, the NT water licences are not NWI compliant as to a perpetual term, full separation from land title, and unbundling from the instrument for regulating water use. Further, the application of the 'use it or lose it' policy, though potentially helpful in the context of the current entitlement regime, is not NWI compliant.

Also, there is non-compliance with the NWI water accounting requirements. The Water Act and Regulations provide no legislative support for the water trade register or for making and recording announced allocations, which may inhibit trade in those allocations. The NT is also non-compliant with the national code for water extraction metering.

Indigenous access to water resources

The PC noted the NT's progress in recognising water requirements for Indigenous cultural values and in providing for Aboriginal Water Reserves under WAPs. However, a 2019 amendment to the Water Act requiring WAPs to provide for Aboriginal Water Reserves has limited operation because

regulations have not been made to prescribe the class of persons to give consent to a licence to take reserved water, and the form for such consent. Further negotiations are needed to facilitate Aboriginal access to consumptive use entitlements for economic development.

• Community partnerships and consultation

The Water Act makes no provision for the process of consultation in making and administering WAPs, except that it provides in simple and highly discretionary terms for the appointment of WACs (Water Advisory Committees). The PC cited evidence of a serious decline is use of the WACs and commented that the NWI provisions on consultation are out-dated. The Badu Review acknowledges the challenges in Aboriginal engagement, especially where there is no WAP. Even in the making of the Georgina Wiso WAP 2023-31, the evidence is of a lack of consultation meeting the NWI Water Policy Guidelines 2010. There is a need for more legislative guidance on consultation.

3.2. Is the general approach adopted for the development (preparation) and structure of Water Allocation Plans (WAPs) consistent with the NWI?

When to make a WAP and over what area

The NWI para [38] makes clear that the NT will determine when a plan is prepared, the area it covers, the detail, duration and time of review, and the resources devoted to its preparation "based on an assessment of the level of development of *water systems*, projected future consumptive demand and the risks of not having a detailed plan". However, the NWI Policy Guidelines 2010 list various principles to apply in developing a plan, including a water system classification for "conservation", "low-development" and "high development". All plans should specify the sustainable water extraction regime. It is not consistent with the 2010 guideline to think that a WAP is not needed until there are high levels of water resource development. That said, it is consistent with the NWI for the NT to apply non-statutory policies and procedures to guide water licensing decisions in those areas not subject to a WAP.

A WAP in three documents

While it is understandable that the NT Government wishes to confine the content of a WAP that is to be given legal effect under the Water Act, the new format of a WAP with a separate Background Report and Implementation Actions Report does not conform to the NWI guidance in Schedule E. Thus, a WAP provides less guidance to the Controller and licensees and other water users than the NWI envisages. Of particular concern is the reliance on the general water investigation provisions of Water Act s.34 to provide for the ongoing mandate for monitoring and reporting on the implementation of a specific WAP. The provisions for monitoring, reporting and amending a water allocation plan need to be included in a WAP to take the benefit of Water Act provisions giving legal effect to a WAP: s.22B(4) and s.90.

Water Act prescription of the legal effect of the WAP content

It is confusing that the provisions of Water Act s.22B(4) and s.90(1) give different legal effect to a WAP: water resource management is to be "in accordance" with a WAP, versus the Controller making a water extraction licence decision "must take into account" any applicable WAP. The NT Supreme Court has recently held in the *Singleton Station Case* that s.22B(4) does not confine the broad licensing discretion under s.90(1) by requiring a licence to conform to the terms of a WAP. The Court's analysis shows that more careful and certain drafting of the legislation and WAPs could bring regulatory

benefits. The NWI goals of water allocation plans providing for 'secure ecological outcomes' and 'resource security outcomes' means that a water allocation plan should be legally binding on the Controller making water licensing decisions and on licensees exercising rights under their water extraction licences.

3.3 Is the approach to water planning and allocation adopted in the NT "Water Allocation Planning Framework" (6 May 2020), including the contingent rules, annual allocation process and "Draft Surface Water Take — Wet Seasons Flows Policy", consistent with the NWI?

• Water Act s.22B and environmental water allocations

The essential question here is how does the NT plan allocations of water to consumptive and non-consumptive uses. The primary statutory mandate is that a WAP must allocate water to beneficial uses within the ESY (estimated sustainable yield). An allocation must be made to the environment as a statutorily declared beneficial use. The concept of ESY in the Water Act mandate is to be distinguished from the NWI concept of ESLT (*environmentally sustainable level of extraction*). The Water Act does not define ESY, but it includes in ESY both consumptive and non-consumptive uses. In the Georgina Wiso WAP, the ESY concept seems to include only consumptive uses; a meaning that is closer to the NWI concept of ESLT.

Further, the Georgina Wiso WAP designates the primary environmental water allocation as ground water "storage", and a true understanding of that concept and consumptive use access to the storage is only explained in the Background Report. It seems that the approach taken in the WAP is set by the Water Allocation Planning Framework. Vast aquifer storage is used to balance the infrequent recharge of the Arid Zone aquifer against a continuous demand for a relatively modest fixed volume of water for consumptive use. The infrequent recharge (potentially decades apart) is adjusted to an average annualised recharge to sustain the proposed levels of annual extraction from the groundwater storage. The allocation limit is calculated as a percentage of drawdown on the storage over 100 years, and potential recharge events in that time are not calculated.

Both the statutory concept of ESY as including non-consumptive uses and the designation of long-term storage of groundwater for environmental conservation values and consumptive use access are inconsistent with the central principles of consumptive pool management of share entitlements subject to prior environmental allocation. More research is needed to ascertain how share entitlements in consumptive pool management of groundwater have been implemented around Australia.

Contingent Allocation Rules, especially where there is no WAP

It is also consistent with the NWI for the NT to apply non-statutory policies and procedures to guide licensing decisions in areas not subject to a WAP. The Water Allocation Planning Framework and the Wet Season Flows Policy are important policies for guiding allocation decision making by setting contingent allocation rules when there is no WAP and a lack of directly relevant scientific research to inform licensing. Each purports to set conservative limits on licence allocations from surface and ground water. It is also beyond my expertise to comment on whether the environmental thresholds adopted in these policies conform to the NWI concept of an ESLT, but I note the concern expressed in the Badu Review about the extent to which ground water storage can be allocated.

My legal concerns are that these unenforceable non-statutory policy instruments have the status only of permissive relevant considerations for decision making. While they could not be administered inconsistently with a declared WAP, it seems that they are greatly relied upon and even inform the preparation and application of declared WAPs. This structure is inconsistent with the essential NWI principle of statutory water allocation planning.

Professor Alex Gardner

12 February 2024

Annexure A

Legislation

Water Act 1992 (NT) – as in force 1 August 2023

Water Regulations 1992 (NT) - as in force 1 August 2023

Interpretation Act 1978 (NT)

National Water Initiative

Intergovernmental Agreement on a National Water Initiative 2004

Northern Territory Implementation Plan for the Intergovernmental Agreement on a National Water Initiative, June 2006

2010 NWI Policy Guidelines for Water Planning and Management (copy held by author)

Productivity Commission, <u>National Water Reform 2020 - Inquiry Report</u>, September 2021, and Supporting Papers

Badu Advisory Review

Badu Advisory, <u>Review of the NT's implementation of the National Water Initiative in relation to water planning</u>, 13 July 2023

Water Resources Management documents, Northern Territory

NT Government, Map of the Northern Territory Declared Water Control Districts, 2022

NT Government, Map of the Water Allocation Planning Areas, April 2023

NT Government, "Classification of the Top End and Arid Zone for Northern Territory water resources", 2021

NT Water Allocation Planning Framework, 6 May 2020

NT Government, Department of Environment, Parks and Water Security, "<u>Announced water</u> allocations" website, including "announced allocation fact sheet" (undated)

NT Government, <u>Draft Surface Water Take – Wet Season Flows Policy</u>, 15 September 2022

NT Government, draft Western Davenport Water Allocation Plan 2023-2033, March 2023

NT Government, Georgina Wiso Water Allocation Plan 2023-2031, 10 November 2023

NT Government, Katherine Tindall Limestone Water Allocation Plan 2019-2024, 16 August 2019